

# Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

4-10-2024

# Frontline Supervisors' Strategies to Mitigate Employee Turnover

Patrina Amos Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

# Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Patrina Amos

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Gwendolyn Dooley, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Franz Gottleib, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

# Abstract

Frontline Supervisors' Strategies to Mitigate Employee Turnover

by

Patrina Amos

MA, Excelsior College, 2012

BA, Chaminade University, 2008

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2024

#### Abstract

Employee turnover consists of tangible and intangible costs that burden frontline supervisors and limit organizations' profitability. During turnover, frontline supervisors bear the costs of losing the outgoing employee and the expenses of replacing the employee, which can be double the employee's annual salary. Grounded in social exchange theory, the purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore strategies that six frontline supervisors used to mitigate employee turnover. The data collected from semistructured interviews were thematically analyzed, resulting in four major themes: (a) communication, (b) supervisor support, (c) employee engagement, and (d) rewards and recognition. The primary recommendation is for organizational leaders to establish an environment where frontline supervisors cultivate positive relationships with their employees to boost employee engagement and commitment. The implications for positive social change include opportunities for employees and organizational leaders to dedicate additional resources to their communities based on increased financial stability and reduced unemployment periods, which can benefit members of the community who need assistance.

# Frontline Supervisors' Strategies to Mitigate Employee Turnover

by

# Patrina Amos

MA, Excelsior College, 2012 BA, Chaminade University, 2008

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2024

# Dedication

For those who believe, all things are possible. I dedicate this doctoral study to my twin sister, the late Katrina LeReatha Amos. The culmination of this journey is the last item on our 13th birthday "Grownup Goals" list. It is finished! Your dreams, mine, and ours are alive and well.

# Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my chair, Dr. Gwen Dooley, for her exceptional guidance throughout this journey. She allowed me time to develop my study within the bounds of academic growth and critical thinking. Her input and feedback were invaluable. I especially appreciated Dr. Dooley's no nonsense delivery, which encouraged me to submit the best quality of work. Beyond that, through the "Team Dooley" group that she facilitated, Dr. Dooley created a culture permeated by teamwork and high standards. Additionally, I am eternally grateful to my second committee member, Dr. Michael Gottleib, for his excellent feedback and support.

I also want to acknowledge and thank my family and friends for their support and sacrifices. To my beautiful kids, KayLee and Lincoln, my biggest inspirations. I am grateful to my husband, David, who picked up the slack with the kids and made a remarkable effort to support me. To Stacy, for assisting with editing, and for being everything I needed in a best friend during this difficult journey. Finally, to God goes all the glory. Neither of my parents was enrolled in school past elementary. Look at what God did!

# Table of Contents

Li	st of Figures	V
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	2
	Population and Sampling	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	5
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	6
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	7
	Limitations	7
	Delimitations	8
	Significance of the Study	9
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
	Employee Turnover	11
	SET as a Conceptual Framework	14
	Leaders' Role in Mitigating Turnover	24
	Leadership Development	26
	Leadership Styles and Employee Turnover	27

	Diversity and Employee Turnover	31						
	Turnover and Employee Supervisor Relationships	34						
	Supervisor Support and Employee Turnover	36						
	Employee Engagement and Turnover	39						
	Organizational Commitment and Turnover	41						
	Job Satisfaction	43						
	Strategies to Mitigate Employee Turnover	45						
	Transition	46						
Section 2: The Project								
	Purpose Statement	48						
	Role of the Researcher	48						
	Participants	50						
	Research Method and Design	51						
	Research Method	52						
	Research Design	54						
	Population and Sampling	55						
	Ethical Research	57						
	Data Collection Instruments	59						
	Data Collection Technique	61						
	Data Organization Technique	65						
	Data Analysis	66						
	Reliability and Validity	69						

Reliability	69							
Dependability	70							
Validity	70							
Credibility	71							
Transferability	72							
Confirmability	72							
Data Saturation	73							
Transition and Summary	73							
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change								
Introduction	75							
Presentation of the Findings	75							
Theme 1: Communication	76							
Theme 2: Supervisor Support	78							
Theme 3: Employee Engagement	81							
Theme 4: Rewards and Recognition	84							
Relevance of the Findings to the Conceptual Framework	86							
Applications of the Findings to Effective Business Practice	87							
Applications to Professional Practice	88							
Implications for Social Change	89							
Recommendations for Action	90							
Recommendations for Further Research	92							
Reflections	93							

Conclusion	95
References	96
Appendix: Interview Protocol	135

# List of Figures

Figure	e 1. C	Graph	ical I	)epict	tion o	f Soci	al Exc	chang	e The	eory A	Applied	d to I	Emplo	yee [	Turnov	/ei
																19

# Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Employee turnover is a growing problem for organizations. Although millennials will occupy 75% of the global workforce by 2025, 91% of millennials do not intend to remain with any employer for more than 3 years (Tenakwah, 2021). Buchman et al. (2020) approximated the direct cost to replace a departing employee at 150% of the annual salary of the departing employee. Leaders who understand the factors that impact employee turnover issues can develop strategies to mitigate the issues. Based on the results of this study, I offer practical insight into effective strategies to mitigate employee turnover.

# **Background of the Problem**

Retaining skilled employees is a serious challenge for business leaders worldwide. More than half of employees surveyed in 2021 intended to look for a new job, while researchers also showed that once the COVID-19 pandemic subsided and recruiting efforts ramped up, a quarter of workers planned to quit their jobs outright (Maurer, 2021). Researchers have revealed there can be several reasons for employee turnover, from organizational to external factors (Alterman et al., 2021; Meduri & Jindal, 2021). Employee turnover may be influenced by supervisor and employee relationships or personal and psychological factors (Faupel & Helpap, 2021; Meduri & Jindal, 2021). Additional research is needed to determine how leaders impact employee turnover.

I used this study to fill a gap between prior studies and current organizational issues resulting from rapid changes. Furthermore, I recommend strategies frontline

supervisors can implement to mitigate employee turnover. Now that I have provided the background of the problem, I will shift the focus to the problem and purpose of the study.

# **Problem and Purpose**

Organizational leaders are faced with challenges due to the rising costs of employee turnover. Researchers provided several reasons for employee turnover from organizational to external factors (Meduri & Jindal, 2021). Employees cited a variety of reasons for the turnover including disengagement (Maurer, 2021), leadership style, and job satisfaction (Dessalegn et al., 2021; Krishna et al., 2022). Frontline leaders significantly impact employee turnover, including their relationship with employees (Meduri & Jindal, 2021). The general business problem was that employee turnover can threaten organizational leaders' efforts to reach objectives. The specific business problem was that some frontline supervisors lack strategies to mitigate employee turnover. The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore strategies frontline supervisors use to mitigate employee turnover.

# **Population and Sampling**

The target population consisted of frontline supervisors from multiple professional industries in Virginia who were interviewed using semistructured interviews constructed to obtain their perspectives on effective strategies to mitigate employee turnover. Additionally, I reviewed publicly available documents for relevant information. I used purposive sampling while leveraging my personal network and social media to recruit participants. Study eligibility requirements included participants who have

successfully used strategies to mitigate employee turnover in their organization. The sample size consisted of six interviews.

#### **Nature of the Study**

To address the research question in this study, I used a qualitative approach. The qualitative method was appropriate because a researcher chooses the qualitative research method to ask how, why, or what about business phenomena (Saunders et al., 2016). Qualitative studies are classified as social science research in which the researcher gathers and analyzes non-numerical data (Effat & Tahereh, 2022). Qualitative researchers use a variety of data collection techniques and analytical procedures to establish a theoretical contribution and conceptual framework based on study participants' meanings and relationships between them (Head et al., 2023; Saunders et al., 2016). In quantitative research, however, a researcher examines relationships between numerically measured variables that are analyzed using graphical and statistical techniques, which are objective and value neutral (Saunders et al., 2016; Zyphur & Pierides, 2020). I did not consider the quantitative method because the purpose of the study was not to examine characteristics, variables, or numerical measures concerning the phenomenon. Another viable method for conducting research is the mixed-method approach, which is a combination of the use of qualitative and quantitative data collection techniques and analytical procedures (Fàbregues et al., 2021; Saunders et al., 2016). I did not select this method for the study because while mixed methods can help the researcher increase validity and provide rich insights into the research phenomena, mixed method studies can be difficult to analyze,

expensive, and time consuming (Dawadi et al., 2021). In the interest of time, a qualitative study was more appropriate than a mixed method study.

To address the research questions in this qualitative study, I used a pragmatic inquiry design. A pragmatic inquiry design was most appropriate to help me answer the research question. A researcher uses pragmatic inquiry design and analysis to strategically link and borrow from traditional qualitative methods to meet a study's needs, generally with guidance from an established framework with comprehensive research and practice change objectives (Ramanadhan et al., 2021). Ledger et al. (2023) expanded on how researchers can use pragmatic inquiry design, suggesting researchers use this design to address real-world issues and to offer an action oriented framework based on participants' experiences. I used pragmatic inquiry design to address the real-world issues of employee turnover. I used inductive research in the study and focused on individual decision makers' experiences with a real-world problem.

Another research design used in qualitative studies is ethnography. Researchers use this design to study the culture of groups of people, defined as beliefs, patterns of social interactions, language, behaviors, and ideation (Tomaszewski et al., 2020). I did not consider ethnography appropriate because it depends significantly on lengthy fieldwork or duration of contact with the culture being studied.

# **Research Question**

What strategies do frontline supervisors use to mitigate turnover among employees?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. How do you track employee turnover?
- 2. How do you measure your employees' levels of engagement?
- 3. How do you manage absenteeism or other withdrawal behaviors?
- 4. What strategies have you used to reduce employee turnover?
- 5. How have you implemented employee retention strategies?
- 6. How do you measure the effectiveness of your strategies to reduce turnover?
- 7. Which strategies were most effective to reduce employee turnover?
- 8. What key challenges did you experience, if any, when implementing successful strategies to reduce employee turnover?
- 9. How did you address or resolve any challenges of implementing successful strategies to reduce employee turnover?
- 10. What additional information would you like to provide about organizational strategies to reduce employee turnover?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

I used social exchange theory (SET) as the concept to help me ground the study. Blau (1964) is often credited as the theorist, although other theorists (Emerson, 1976; Homans, 1958) are also largely responsible for SET. Homans (1958) borrowed SET from sociology, economics, and psychology constructs to understand the rewards and costs of relationships within economic networks based on exchanging hypothetical currency such as (a) recognition, (b) rewards, (c) communication, and (d) support. The main tenets of SET include reciprocity, interdependence, and self-interest. SET is based on the exchange

of nonmonetary and monetary benefits between the employee and the organization because of feelings of long-term focus, trust, obligation, and shared values (Haridas et al., 2022; Kemp et al., 2021). Using SET, I explored strategies frontline supervisors use to mitigate employee turnover.

SET applies to this study because I incorporated the theory to help me interpret supervisors' and employees' behaviors. Researchers consider SET one of the most useful frameworks for understanding organizational behavior (Ahmad et al., 2023; Dalgic & Akgunduz, 2022; McLeod et al., 2021; Meira & Hancer, 2021). Blau (1964) indicated that behavior is based on the rewards of an interaction or relationship minus the costs. The logical connection between SET and the nature of the study includes the in depth inquiry into the social exchange behaviors between supervisors and their employees, which was the foundation of the research.

#### **Operational Definitions**

The following definitions will help readers gain a common perspective concerning distinctive terms used in this study. The following terms are used within the study:

*Employee engagement*: a positive, fulfilling, work-related state of mind characterized by dedication, vigor, and absorption (Yucel et al., 2023).

*Employee turnover*: an employee's voluntary or involuntary permanent departure from the employing organization (Alterman et al., 2021).

Organizational commitment: an employee's identification with, involvement in, and dedication to the goals of the organization, and aspiration to stay in the organization (Bell & Sheridan, 2020).

*Turnover intention*: a deliberate and conscious willfulness to terminate the employment relationship between the individual and the organization (Yucel et al., 2023).

#### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

# **Assumptions**

This qualitative pragmatic inquiry includes four assumptions. Research assumptions are basically positions, ideas, or issues formed anywhere from the onset of the study design to the concluding report, that are taken for granted and recognized as creditable and universally accepted (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). The first assumption was that the chosen population would be available and provide honest, reliable, and unbiased responses applicable to the research topic. The second assumption was that I would be able to provide sufficient data to address the research question by interviewing participants who work in Virginia. The third assumption was that participants would understand the study objectives and interview questions. The final assumption was that participants have actively created strategies to mitigate employee turnover.

# Limitations

Limitations are restraints that are substantially beyond a researcher's authority. Theofanidis and Fountouki (2018) defined the limitations of any study as potential weaknesses that are customarily out of the researcher's control and are intimately

associated with the chosen research design. The first limitation was potential researcher bias. A qualitative researcher is subject to inevitable cultural biases, values, and beliefs (Baldwin et al., 2022; Lash et al., 2021). To alleviate researcher bias, I followed Baldwin et al.'s (2022) recommendations of remaining objective, impartial, and neutral during the research process. The second limitation was the inability to generalize the results due to the small sample size. I included six participants working in Virginia in the sample; therefore, the sample did not represent all industry leaders in the United States. I used purposive sampling to address this limitation. Purposive sampling is a nonprobability selection procedure in which the sample is made up of participants chosen based on a researcher's judgment and the participant's knowledge about the phenomenon (Gill, 2020; Saunders et al., 2016). I selected participants who could provide extensive information about the research topic. The third limitation was that participants' responses might be subjective. I incorporated reflexivity to address subjectivity.

#### **Delimitations**

Researchers can use delimitations to define the scope of a study. Delimitations are self-imposed constraints that the researcher consciously sets so that the researcher's objectives and aims do not become impossible to achieve (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). The first delimitation was the geographical boundary, which is the state of Virginia. The information obtained from the target population may not apply to other locations. The second delimitation was the participants' employment category. I restricted the sample to frontline supervisors employed in the same organization for at least 5 years.

# **Significance of the Study**

This study is significant in that the results include examples of successful strategies frontline supervisors in small and medium size organizations can use to mitigate employee turnover, which in turn may reduce organizations' costs of hiring and training new employees. Employee turnover strains organizations financially, disrupts organizational efficiency, and can threaten the development and sustainment of new initiatives (Buchman et al., 2020; Tyler, 2021). I expect this study to be of value to organizations because successful turnover mitigation strategies used by frontline supervisors can increase the organization's profitability, productivity, and competitiveness. Constant employee turnover can have a significant impact on the communities where organizations operate. Tyler (2021) postulated that high employee turnover compromises an organization's ability to support its community. Due to increased turnover costs, the organization will have less resources to dedicate to their community. Conversely, organizational leaders who boost their organization's performance can enhance economic development and growth in their communities.

The implications for positive social change include the potential of increasing employees' engagement and sense of purpose, enhancing employees' wellness, and improving organizational citizenship behaviors. Garsaa and Paulet (2022) analyzed the relationship between environmental, social, and governance disclosure and employee turnover. The researchers found that employee turnover can be decreased not only by investing in social responsibility but also by informing stakeholders about such efforts (Garsaa & Paulet, 2022). A significant implication for positive social change that may

arise from this study includes empowering organizational leaders with successful strategies that might help retain employees who contribute to an organization in partnership with the local community. Another implication is that organizational leaders can use the results to help positively alter the financial status of employees and the economic status of communities where the employees live and work.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore the strategies frontline supervisors use to mitigate employee turnover in their organizations. The literature review included 124 scholarly articles from (a) Business Source Complete, (b) ProQuest Central, (c) SAGE Journals, (d) Google Scholar, (e) Emerald Management Journals, and (f) ABI/INFORM Collection. I utilized sources that are aligned with the business topic and peer reviewed, seminal, or government sources that will be less than 5 years old at the completion of the study. I searched for literature using the following keywords: (a) social exchange theory, (b) exchange relations, (c) employee turnover, (d) supervisor employee relationship, (e) employee engagement, (f) employee retention strategies, (g) workplace relationships, (h) job satisfaction, (i) organizational commitment, (j) labor turnover, (k) leadership styles, (l) leadership development, (m) participative leadership, and (n) management strategies. Approximately 85% of the sources were peer reviewed as verified by Ulrich's Periodical Directory through Walden University. The total sources reviewed included 109 peer reviewed journals, six open journals, six seminal sources, two conference sessions, and one website. Furthermore, 86% of the sources were published between 2019 and 2024.

The literature review begins with an overview of employee turnover, during which I discuss turnover intention and actual turnover and highlight the costs of employee turnover. The next section includes an analysis of SET, which I used to form the foundation of the study. Furthermore, this section includes a discussion of two alternative theories. Next, I discuss the following potential themes: (a) leaders' role in mitigating turnover, (b) leadership development, (c) leadership styles and employee turnover, (d) diversity and employee turnover, (e) turnover and employee supervisor relationships, (f) supervisor support and employee turnover, (g) employee engagement and turnover, (j) organizational commitment and turnover, and (k) job satisfaction. In the final section, I discuss strategies frontline supervisors can use to mitigate employee turnover.

#### **Employee Turnover**

Employee turnover is a challenging issue for organizational leaders globally. Tenakwah (2021) shared the results of a Work Institute retention report and emphasized that 78% of turnover worldwide could have been prevented. Researchers have defined *employee turnover* as an employee's voluntary or involuntary permanent departure from the employing organization (Alterman et al., 2021; Garsaa & Paulet, 2022; Krishna et al., 2022). While the reasons vary based on the employees and their employers, researchers found that the main reasons employees left were compensation and benefits, career development, supervisor or manager behavior, well-being, work-life balance, job characteristics, work environment, relocation, retirement, and involuntary turnover (Alterman et al., 2021; Tenakwah, 2021). Oruh et al. (2020) investigated the relationship

between employee turnover and managerial employment relations. The researchers found that employee turnover was triggered by managerial employment relations. Oruh et al. (2020) classified the results into five themes: (a) nonparticipatory engagement, (b) crushing workload, (c) discontent with inflexibility, (d) silencing employee voice, and (e) centralized communication. Each of the issues is within the scope of what frontline supervisors can address to influence employee turnover behavior.

#### Turnover Intention and Actual Turnover

Turnover intention and actual turnover are two different constructs. Al-Dalahmeh et al. (2020) referred to turnover intention as the possibility of an employee imminently departing from an organization. While some researchers (Richter et al., 2020) found no relationship between turnover intentions and actual turnover, Al-Dalahmeh et al. believed it to be the best indicator of turnover behavior. In support of Al-Dalahmeh et al., Oh and Chhinzer (2021) and Shin and Jeung (2019) also found a direct link between turnover intentions and actual turnover. Chu et al. (2022) investigated the association of strengthsbased leadership with employee turnover intention and found that strengths-based leadership relates negatively to turnover intention and the relationship between strengthsbased leadership and turnover intention is partially mediated by felt obligation for constructive change. Aggarwal et al. (2022), however, aligned with Yucel's (2021) suggestion that organizational leaders who evaluate turnover intentions can help mitigate actual turnover. Researchers suggested that organizational leaders identify and use factors that employees recognize and value such as benefits, rewards, and advancement opportunities to mitigate employees' turnover intentions (Aggarwal et al., 2022;

Alterman et al., 2021; Yucel, 2021). Muhammad et al. (2021) investigated the effect of job stress and workload on employee turnover intention. Unlike Meduri and Jindal (2021) and Chowdhury et al. (2022) who grounded their research on SET, Muhammad et al. grounded their research on person environment fit theory which assumes when persons identify misperceptions of the work environment reality, stress occurs. The researchers found a positive correlation between employee turnover intentions and job stress. In alignment with Chowdhury et al. and Meduri and Jindal, Muhammad et al. recommended business leaders create appropriate strategies for retaining employees. Organizational leaders can develop strategies to influence employee turnover behavior and decrease the probability of employees forming turnover intentions.

# Cost of Employee Turnover

There are direct and indirect costs, which could be financial or nonfinancial, associated with employee turnover. Whereas Hultman (2019) estimated the annual cost of employee turnover could be approximately one million dollars annually, Hornickel (2019) suggested that organizational leaders could pay billions of dollars in employee turnover costs annually, and Tenakwah (2021) exceeded both estimates with a prediction of one trillion dollars annually as the cost of employee turnover. The difficulty organizational leaders face in pinpointing the cost of employee turnover involves the various indirect costs associated with turnover, such as reduced performance, loss of productivity, lower morale, and loss of organizational knowledge (Buchman et al., 2020; Hornickel, 2019; Tyler, 2021). Indirect employee turnover costs are difficult for organizational leaders to quantify, yet those costs have a significant impact on

organizations. The direct costs of employee turnover are more transparent for organizational leaders to quantify. Saverio et al. (2018) outlined some of the direct costs to the organization associated with employee turnover as vacancy advertisement, recruitment, interview, and training costs of new hires. Hultman (2019), Tenakwah (2021), and Zhang et al. (2022) supported Saverio et al. as they also included separation pay, recruiting new employees, and onboarding and training new employees as some of the financial costs of employee turnover. Saverio et al. posited that turnover costs could limit organizations' profitability. Organizational leaders who understand the direct costs of turnover can provide tangible benefits to their organizations. Researchers who understand the costs associated with employee turnover can use the information to offer strategies that mitigate the costly phenomenon.

#### **SET** as a Conceptual Framework

SET helps researchers describe and interpret the interactions between employees, their supervisors, and their employers. Blau (1964) differentiated between economic exchanges and social exchanges. Social exchanges generated perceptions of trust and duty rather than stipulations contingent upon contractual obligations based on economic exchanges (Blau, 1964). Emerson (1976) referred to SET as a frame of reference based on the social exchange restricted to behaviors that are conditional on rewards from others.

One of the principles of SET is reciprocity. Researchers use reciprocity to focus on mutual benefits of the exchange relationship. Quratulain et al. (2018) explained that reciprocity is the goal of individuals who develop a relationship with the mutual benefit of positive interactions. The strategies organizational leaders implement to improve

employee effectiveness and productivity and generate mutual benefit are referred to as organizational reciprocity (Meira & Hancer, 2021; Pu et al., 2024; Quratulain et al., 2018). The social exchange mutual benefit can be social or economic, with the rewards being intrinsic or extrinsic. Wei et al. (2019) explained extrinsic rewards are economic exchanges, which include bonuses and other financial compensation. Furthermore, Wei et al. emphasized that the rewards are social and intrinsic in terms of reciprocity. The researchers designated intrinsic rewards as social exchanges between individuals, indicating representations and perceptions of employees. According to Akpom and Ibegbulam (2023) and Wei et al., intrinsic rewards between employees meaningfully influence sharing intention. Further, reciprocity is based on each employee's self-interest and the interdependence of other employees, which heightens the need for communication, trust, and knowledge sharing.

Interdependence is another main principle of SET. Researchers can use interdependence to focus on acknowledging an employee's need for another employee to achieve their established goal. Zhang et al. (2022) defined *interdependence* as an individual's requirement of others to achieve set goals or tasks. Within social exchanges, interdependence relies upon the ability of individuals to continue learning and sharing their knowledge with other individuals to achieve an organizational goal (Moilanen & Ikäheimo, 2019). Using the principle of interdependence, trust improves the probability of employees engaging and sharing information with their frontline supervisors (Zhang et al., 2022). As employees and supervisors develop within organizations, communication and sharing improve, which improves efficiency in obtaining an organization's

established goal based on employees' interdependence. Interdependence impacts organizations' efficiency and productivity. Zhang et al. (2022) posited that interdependence prevails within organizational relationships due to the need to rely on and interact with organizational employees. Blau (1964) explained that relationship exchanges presume an interdependence between individuals to accomplish set expectations and goals, which are improved through reciprocity. Huang et al. (2018), Strik et al. (2021), and Zhang et al. furthered Blau's explanation and found that interdependence impacts extroversion positively and increases employee knowledge sharing, which enables employees to develop communication and trust with other employees. Further, Strik et al. postulated that negative interdependence behaviors impact knowledge sharing negatively. Researchers noted that establishing trust is significantly related to employee exchanges of knowledge and efficiency (Zakaria & Yusof, 2020; Zhang et al., 2022). Although Strik et al. noted that trust and communication weaknesses in employee supervisor relationships take longer to develop knowledge sharing and trust exchanges, Wei et al. (2019) highlighted some of the incentives for employees who share knowledge as extrinsic rewards, trust, and selfvalues. In alignment with Wei et al., Pu et al. (2024) credited trust as a benefit of sharing knowledge in exchange relationships. Supervisors who understand the impact behaviors have on organizational interdependence and an employee's ability to develop communication and trust can impact an organization's ability to achieve organizational goals.

Self-interest is also an important principle of SET. Researchers can use self-interest to focus on the established expectation an employee identifies within the social exchange as their goal. Ting and Ahn (2023) referred to self-interest as the expectations and goals an individual establishes that cannot be accomplished without assistance.

Muldoon et al. (2019) surmised that in relation to social exchanges, researchers (Blau, 1964; Homans, 1958) initially focused more on altruism instead of self-interest.

Furthermore, Muldoon et al. posited that self-interest helps individuals develop trust within social exchange. Employees who considered themselves better than their coworkers limited their communication and performance and had less job satisfaction than their coworkers who perceived themselves as equal (Zhang et al., 2022). However, Zhang et al. (2022) explained that employees still maintained working relationships with coworkers. Self-interest in job satisfaction was the recognized effect of the social exchange (Zhang et al., 2022). While self-interest is the goal of the relationship, the individual must recognize the need for help from other individuals to achieve the goal.

I selected SET for this qualitative pragmatic inquiry because I can use its flexibility to help me explain the nature of the relationship between frontline supervisors and their employees. Researchers have used SET to explore the relationship between the employee and the organization, providing a foundation for understanding employee organizational commitment, employee job satisfaction, and employee engagement (Choi et al., 2015; Kim & Beehr, 2020). Aggarwal et al. (2022) suggested that researchers use SET to study employee engagement and commitment, while Chowdhury et al. (2022) noted researchers' use of SET to study organizational and supervisory support behaviors.

Furthermore, Roch et al. (2019) demonstrated that researchers can use SET to analyze perceived justice while Kaur and Randhawa (2021a) posited that researchers incorporate SET to help analyze organizational citizenship behaviors. Ahmad et al. (2023) emphasized that SET is contingent upon the relationships between two or more individuals who depend on each other to achieve a predetermined goal, either individually or as a team. Moilanen and Ikäheimo (2019) supported Ahmad et al.'s point and noted that researchers use SET to explore the benefits of reciprocal relationships. In this study, I used SET as the framework for exploring the interactions between frontline supervisors and their employees and how those interactions impact the employees' job satisfaction, engagement, and organizational commitment. Figure 1 is a graphical depiction of SET applied to employee turnover.

Figure 1

Graphical Depiction of Social Exchange Theory Applied to Employee Turnover



*Note*. Adapted from "Social Behavior as Exchange," by G. Homans, 1958, *American Journal of Sociology*, 63(6), 597–606 (https://doi.org/10.1086/222355). In the public domain.

#### Criticisms of SET

There are two major criticisms of SET throughout the literature. One of the criticisms of SET is that the benefits of the theory can be undermined by the social behaviors of employees or leaders, which can impair trust and knowledge sharing (Al Halbusi et al., 2021). However, Hou and Zhang (2021) countered that SET benefits are measured based on employees' dedication to the organization and psychological ownership. Another criticism of SET is that it is not theoretically precise (Cooper-Thomas & Morrison, 2018). Although Ahmad et al. (2023) asserted that one of the primary objectives of SET is that researchers can use it to help understand how the

implications of reciprocity and interdependence can improve productivity and organizational cohesiveness, Cooper-Thomas and Morrison (2018) contended that SET lacks specificity regarding complex workplace relationships. In contrast, Hou and Zhang (2021) found that managers can improve employee commitment, which increases the benefits of SET. I weighed the rewards and costs of incorporating SET into the study and determined that the benefits of SET outweighed the criticisms. Supervisors can utilize SET principles to influence employee behaviors.

#### Alternative Theories

I analyzed two alternative theories for this study: Fiedler's (1964) contingency theory and Bass's (1985) transactional leadership theory. Contingency theory is a management theory about the effectiveness of leadership, whereas transactional leadership theory is a leadership behavior theory. While Cruz et al. (2011) emphasized that there are advantages and disadvantages to the contingency theory, Syaharudin et al. (2022) posited that transactional leadership has the weakest influence on employee performance. I selected SET as the conceptual framework for this study because the constructs of SET will help me provide a broad interpretation of the exchange relationship between employees and their supervisors.

Contingency Theory. I considered contingency theory to support the research on leaders' different leadership styles regarding interactions with their employees. Fiedler (1964) shifted the focus of leadership studies toward the study of different leadership styles. There is no single best way of leading and a leadership style that is effective in certain situations may not be successful in others (Popp & Hadwich, 2018). According to

Fiedler's (1964) contingency model, the best leadership style is contingent upon the tasks, and different external and internal constraints. One of the essential ideas of contingency theory is that the organization's needs are better satisfied when the management style is appropriate to both the tasks and the nature of the employees.

Abedin (2022) used contingency theory as a theoretical lens for guiding organizations and decision-makers to manage the explicable effects of artificial intelligence. The four principles Abedin drew on included: (a) there is no universal or best way to do things, (b) the design of organizations must fit their environment, (c) effective organizations should fit their environments as well as their subsystems, and (d) the goals and needs of an organization are better satisfied when its management style fits both the nature of the work and the task. While the contingency theory does not help individuals improve their leadership skills, it can be useful to help leaders choose the most effective leadership style based on the situation.

When uncertainty exists in the environment due to rapid change, leaders who demonstrate a flexible leadership style may be better suited to deal with necessary changes. Shah (2020) proposed that managers implement a transformational leadership style and adopt affiliated human resource management practices contingent upon the level of leader-member exchange relationship which could lead to effective organizational leadership. If leader-member relations are good, a task-based leader will secure the best performance when the leader holds a significant amount of power, and the task is unstructured. Alternatively, a relationship-oriented leader will secure the best performance if leader-member relations are poor, the task is structured, and the leader

holds little power (Shah, 2020). Although Fiedler (1964) proposed that leadership styles are fixed, other psychologists (Popp & Hadwich, 2018) argued that leaders can adjust to a style that best fits their followers. Ellyson et al. (2012) used Fiedler's contingency theory to show that leadership styles are contingent upon the leaders' situation. Popp and Hadwich examined the effects of employee behavior in different types of service contexts, and the researchers supported Ellyson et al. and found that leaders choose leadership styles based on different situations. Additionally, the researchers (Ellyson et al., 2012; Popp & Hadwich, 2018) were aligned with Cruz et al. (2011) who found that leaders could adjust their style to fit the situation. To maximize engagement and performance, leaders should identify which leadership styles work best with their employees and use those specific styles when interacting with the employees.

Transactional Leadership Theory. After I scrutinized the contingency theory, I analyzed the transactional leadership theory. Bass (1985) developed the transactional leadership theory on the notion that leaders prompt task completion by either rewarding or punishing followers. Bass provided the following constructs of the theory: (a) constructive transactions, (b) corrective actions, and (c) contingent rewards. Researchers can use transactional leadership to assist in developing and maintaining a situation in which employee capabilities are maximized. Kafetzopoulos and Gotzamani (2022) defined transactional leadership as a leadership approach based on a contractual agreement between a leader and his followers. Similarly, Thapa and Parimoo (2022) explained transactional leadership as an outcome-based leadership style contingent on an exchange of resources. Each side expects the other to fulfill the agreed upon terms of the

transaction to guarantee the survival of their relationship (Frangieh & Rusu, 2021; Kafetzopoulos & Gotzamani, 2022; Thapa & Parimoo, 2022). Transactional leaders focus more on the outcome of transactions and exchanges rather than on employees.

Researchers have noted several differences between SET and transactional leadership theories (Bass, 1985; Frangieh & Rusu, 2021). How organizational leaders reduce turnover through employees' commitment is one of the key differences between SET and transactional leadership theories. Transactional leaders, according to some scholars (Bass, 1985; Thapa & Parimoo, 2022), incorporate extrinsic reward systems to obtain commitment from followers, while some social exchange theorists (Dalgic & Akgunduz, 2022; McLeod et al., 2021) incorporate intrinsic motivational mechanisms to obtain commitment by engaging with followers. Dessalegn et al. (2021) suggested that transactional leadership can be helpful in stimulating employee engagement. In contrast, Itzkovich et al. (2020) asserted that transactional leadership can adversely alter an employee's engagement. The transactional leader inspires a modest degree of performance, dedication, engagement, and commitment by offering contingent rewards to followers (Odero, 2023). Frangieh and Rusu (2021) warned that if supervisors' relationships with their employees are based only on external reward systems it may not elicit organizational dedication, which could help leaders mitigate employee turnover. External rewards such as pay might not be able to help mitigate turnover because as Syaharudin et al. (2022) highlighted, employees can easily obtain details about what competitors pay for skills the employees possess. Another difference between SET and transactional leadership theories is how organizational leaders reduce turnover through

employees' trust. According to researchers (Lumbantoruan et al., 2020; Skopak & Hadzaihmetovic, 2022; Syaharudin et al., 2022), transactional leaders use the reward system to inspire employees and mitigate employee turnover. However, Frangieh and Rusu (2021) contradicted this beneficial effect and explained that an economic based relationship might not reduce employee turnover without nonmonetary incentive.

Organizational leaders can use transactional leadership in various ways and have different impacts on job satisfaction. Job satisfaction is important in the context of this study because DeLay and Clark (2020) found that employee turnover is significantly impacted by job satisfaction. Shah (2020) and Ullah and Khan (2019) recommended that organizational leaders incorporate the leadership style that is most appropriate for the situation to resolve organizational issues such as high turnover. Consequently, regarding the issue of employee turnover, I will use the principles of SET rather than the transactional leadership theory to support this study.

# **Leaders' Role in Mitigating Turnover**

Organizational leaders play a significant role in mitigating employee turnover.

Organizational leaders are responsible for developing strategies that support employees and reward employees' achievements and commitment. Fletcher et al. (2018) asserted that to their employees, leaders are the most influential individuals in an organization.

Jun et al. (2023) demonstrated that perceived supervisor support completely mediates the relationship between employee turnover intention and authentic leadership. Researchers can use Jun et al.'s study to support their argument that by demonstrating superior level beliefs and values, authentic leaders can ensure followers know their leaders support

them through authentic and transparent acts. Authentic leaders focus on building trust in employee relationships.

Trust is also a significant factor in empowering leadership. Ouyang et al. (2020) examined the relationship between turnover intention and empowering leadership, finding that participants' turnover intention was significantly reduced by empowering leadership. In a similar study, Wibowo and Paramita (2022) investigated the impact of mindful and empathetic leadership on resilience and turnover intention. Wibowo and Paramita supported Ouyang et al. and acknowledged the significant relationship between leadership styles and turnover intention. According to Wibowo and Paramita, a leader's role is critical among employees to reduce turnover intention. Wibowo and Paramita found that mindful leadership reduces turnover intention but does not increase resilience. The authors also found that empathetic leadership increases resilience but does not lessen turnover intention (Wibowo & Paramita, 2022). Based on their findings, the authors speculated that employees need more action-oriented leadership styles to reduce turnover intention (Ouyang et al., 2020; Wibowo & Paramita, 2022). Supervisors should apply mindful leadership if they would like to reduce subordinates' turnover intention. Wibowo and Paramita also concluded that empathetic leadership is appropriate if supervisors would like to increase their subordinates' resilience.

Donkor et al. (2022) conducted a study to explore the impact of transformational leadership style on employee turnover intentions. Donkor et al. suggested that turnover intention was reduced when employees felt included and were rewarded for their performance. Donkor et al. (2022) found that transformational leadership inversely

relates to employee turnover intention. It was notable that the authors found that transformational leadership had an insignificant impact on turnover intentions. That finding was contrary to their initial hypothesis and Donkor et al. contradicted Richter et al. (2020) regarding turnover intentions. Donkor et al. concluded that building trust and confidence among employees would reduce turnover intentions. Leaders are responsible for building trust and confidence among their employees.

Robertson (2021) investigated the influence of organizational leaders on the high turnover rate during the COVID-19 pandemic shutdown in 2021. Robertson found that by failing to identify and change aspects that contributed to pre pandemic employee turnover, organizational leaders missed a chance to retain their employees while the shutdown temporarily paused employee turnover. Robertson posited that leadership action is crucial for establishing lines of communication, creating trusting relationships, and promoting employee retention.

## **Leadership Development**

Although many scholars have explored the study of leadership for centuries, a newer phenomenon is leadership development, which has received less attention than leadership in general (Swayze & Calvin, 2016). Leadership development is relevant to this study because organizational leaders use leadership development programs to strengthen employee engagement. Executive level organizational leaders must be capable of identifying the essential skills necessary for the various level of leaders within the organization and providing training, support, and development opportunities to employees who need the skills (Abraham et al., 2023). Wolper (2016) emphasized that

leadership development programs should include an expansive range of leadership skills and not only train the skills but also demonstrate how leaders should use the skills in practice. Organizational leaders who provide leadership development programs offer their employees resources that increase their satisfaction, engagement, and commitment.

Researchers have indicated a correlation between leadership development and employee engagement (Swayze & Calvin, 2016; Wolper, 2016). Furthermore, Wolper added that high employee turnover could become the norm if leadership development programs are unsuccessful. Larsson et al. (2020) presented a notable study on leadership development programs. The researchers explored the relationship between participation in leadership development programs and employee disengagement. Larsson et al. found that half of the participants reflected a sense of distancing themselves from their organizations. For other participants, an emotional disengagement with their home organization, which the researchers viewed as parallel to changes in social identity (Larsson et al., 2020). In addition to leadership development, leadership styles are significant factors in employee engagement.

#### **Leadership Styles and Employee Turnover**

Leaders practice different leadership styles based on the situation and the organization. Drzewiecka and Roczniewska (2018) defined leadership style as a repeated process of collecting information, establishing bonds, making decisions, and reacting. Further, Costa et al. (2023) noted that leaders use different styles of leadership to empower organizational innovation by influencing employees, which supports innovation processes. Frangieh and Rusu (2021) revealed that leaders can motivate employees and

increase employee productivity by adopting the appropriate leadership style. By varying their leadership styles, leaders can affect their financial performance as well as environmental and social performance. Leaders influence employees by using different leadership styles to make decisions (Thanh & Quang, 2022). A leader can aid or constrain their subordinates' performance and engagement within an organization based on how the leader displays and adapts their leadership style. Chaman et al. (2021), as well as Jan and Maulida (2022) highlighted that the leader's behavior and leadership style are impacted by motivation which can influence employees' performance. Delay and Clark (2020) supported and postulated that successful leaders use a combination of leadership styles that complement each other. Effective leaders vary leadership styles to maximize performance.

Some styles of leadership are more effective than others. Dessalegn et al. (2021) examined the effect of leadership style on employee commitment through the mediation of the role of employees' trust in the supervisor. Dessalegn et al. found that the significance of employees' trust in supervisors, all leadership styles, and commitment was high. While the achievement-oriented leadership style was the least practiced type, supportive leadership was the dominant type of leadership style. Dessalegn et al. confirmed that the relationships between employee commitment and leadership styles were mediated by employees' trust. The researchers concluded that employees' trust significantly mediates the connection between participative, directive, achievement-oriented leadership styles, and commitment. Employee trust partially mediates the linkage between commitment and a supportive leadership style. Conversely, Masood et

al. (2020) found that the transactional and transformational styles of leadership had an insignificant relationship with employee turnover. Researchers recommend business leaders apply the appropriate leadership style that will enable employees to build trust in their leaders which ultimately enhances their commitment level in the workplace (Dessalegn et al., 2021; Kafetzopoulos & Gotzamani, 2022; McKim & Goodwin, 2021).

In another leadership study, Kafetzopoulos and Gotzamani (2022) examined how different leadership styles impact talent management and how leadership styles and talent management impact organizations' performance. The researchers brought together differences among leaders in their personalities, values, experiences, and other human aspects, to improve understanding of different leadership styles (Kafetzopoulos & Gotzamani, 2022). Using a similar study, McKim and Goodwin (2021) discussed four main components of leadership that would be influenced by the leader's style. The primary components included disrupting challenges to sustainability, collaborating across differences, continuously learning, and becoming a flag around which all parties rally (McKim & Goodwin, 2021). Each of the components is a characteristic or capability that can be found within leaders who demonstrate transformational or participative leadership styles.

## Transformational Leadership Style

The leadership style that leaders use can influence their followers' levels of commitment and engagement. Researchers found that transformational leadership plays a significant role in employee engagement (Bader et al., 2023; Sehanovic et al., 2022).

Transformational leaders use positive interactions to build relationships that directly

affect the engagement levels of their followers (Bader et al., 2023). Transformational leadership plays an essential role in effectiveness and survival. Skopak and Hadzaihmetovic (2022) revealed that leaders use transformational leadership to help forecast job satisfaction while Kafetzopoulos and Gotzamani (2022) referred to transformational leadership as one of the most sought after approaches to leader behavior that leaders use to inspire and transform talents to build skills and knowledge and be more valuable to the organization. According to Domínguez et al. (2022), leaders use the transformational leadership style to increase awareness about shared interests in others. Transformational leaders focus on employees instead of targets or tasks and provide a friendly and conducive environment for them. Abbas and Ali (2023) and Ullah et al. (2021) shared the positive influences of transformational leadership including perceived work quality, employee job satisfaction, performance, organizational citizenship behaviors, commitment, cooperation, mission valence, and information use. The researchers demonstrated that organizational leaders use transformational leadership to play a positive role in the formation of social sustainability (Abbas & Ali, 2023; Ullah et al., 2021). Unlike some other leadership styles, transformational leadership is employeeoriented instead of task-oriented. Organizational leaders can use transformational leadership to enhance employee supervisor relationships.

## Participative Leadership Style

Participative leaders can have a significant impact on employees' job satisfaction.

House and Mitchell (1975) defined participative leadership as a style of leadership that leaders use to include followers in decision making, consult with followers about issues

related to work, collect ideas from followers, and attempt to incorporate ideas from followers into decision making. Banjarnahor et al. (2018) posited that leaders who use a participative leadership style foster improved performance and job satisfaction among their followers because they allow their followers to participate in formulating goals and requirements. Frega (2021) supported Banjarnahor et al.'s notion that participative leaders enhance followers' job satisfaction and performance. Frega further postulated that participative leaders directly tackle the issue of alienation by involving followers in decision making. Social involvement is an important aspect of SET. Chan (2019) supported Banjarnahor et al., Frega, and Usman et al. (2021) in finding that participative leadership is positively related to employees' job satisfaction and engagement. Furthermore, Usman et al. found that this leadership style positively influences workplace thriving and helping behaviors; and leaders' behavioral integrity moderates the association between participative leadership and workplace thriving so that the positive association is stronger for employees who recognize their leaders as possessing superior leader behavioral integrity. Leaders can use a participative leadership style to improve employee relations and enhance job satisfaction.

## **Diversity and Employee Turnover**

Leaders must be able to effectively manage multicultural organizations to meet performance goals. Multicultural management is essential in establishing new skills and methods to solve problems such as employee turnover. Vora et al. (2019) found that the future workforce will include multiple generations and cultures. Hence, leaders need to be tolerant and flexible. The next generation of leaders must possess the skill to practice

critical thinking in complex situations (Vora et al., 2019). Researchers credit SET for its usefulness in helping organizational leaders improve cross-cultural relationships linked to the benefit of the exchanges (Chatzopoulou et al., 2022; Moilanen & Ikäheimo, 2019). Huertas-Valdivia et al. (2018) asserted that leaders should focus more on their employees. Leaders, according to Huertas-Valdivia et al., are responsible for their employees' engagement levels in relation to the success of the organizational goals. Pattnaik (2018) highlighted some of the benefits of diversity for individuals such as jobs, promotions, bonuses, training, networks, and knowledge. Majczyk (2022) aligned with Pattnaik and added that some of the benefits of diversity in social exchange relationships include greater business performance, employee commitment and satisfaction, a competitive advantage, enhanced relationships with multicultural communities, and higher profits.

Alshaabani et al. (2021) examined the impact of service businesses' diversity management systems on employees' engagement and the moderating role of job security and organizational trust in that relationship. Alshaabani et al. found that diversity management has a positive significant effect on employees' engagement and that the association is mediated by job insecurity and organizational trust. The researchers suggested that when employees perceive the operations of the management positively, they tend to be more engaged and inspired at their workplace as an exchange toward the positively perceived operations. Alshaabani et al. found that the relationship between employees' engagement and diversity management was negatively mediated by job insecurity, indicating that job insecurity could negatively reduce the effect of diversity

management on employees' engagement. Raithel et al. (2021) found that an important component of leaders' effectiveness in leading culturally diverse teams is the understanding of cultural diversity that leaders develop through experience with cultural diversity. Wood et al. (2023) supported the notion that cultural diversity broadens social identities and networks.

Jankelová et al. (2022) examined the link between best practices in diversity and inclusion in organizations and the rate of employee turnover, assuming that best practices are positively related to the rate of employee turnover through teamwork climate. Jankelová et al. incorporated gender, age, education, and length of manager practice as the control variables. Furthermore, the researchers focused on teamwork climate as a mediating variable, moderating the effect of best practices in implementing diversity management and its possible level of influence on employee turnover in the organization. Jankelová et al. found that the turnover rate is influenced by the manager's age, gender, and length of practice. The researchers showed that the involvement of women in corporate governance can have a positive impact on the level of staff turnover. Additionally, Jankelová et al. found that age, length of experience, and gender are significantly related to the variables of best practices in teamwork climate and diversity management. The researchers suggested diversity management can not only reduce individual performance and weaken employee morale if tools are incorrectly set, but it can also have a negative impact on employee satisfaction and increase turnover in organizations (Jankelová et al., 2022).

Ritz and Alfes (2018) investigated how diversity and dissimilarity measures affect public employees' attachment to employment in a multicultural public administration. The independent variables were language diversity, language dissimilarity, supervisor support for diversity, unit-level controls, and individual-level controls; and the dependent variable was an attachment to employment. Ritz and Alfes demonstrated that language diversity and the support for diversity from supervisors positively affected individuals' attachment. The researchers did not, however, find that individuals' language dissimilarity was related to the inclusion of minorities and did not support the assumed crowding out effect between dissimilarity and diversity. Regarding the crowding out effect, Ritz and Alfes theorized that as language differences decrease, communication bonds increase. The researchers demonstrated that supervisors' support is crucial for strengthening employees' experiences of inclusion and attachment (Ritz & Alfes, 2018). Diverse organizational leaders can have a positive impact on employee relationships.

## **Turnover and Employee Supervisor Relationships**

The relationship between a subordinate and supervisor is significant. Bajaba et al. (2024) used SET to emphasize the reciprocal aspect of supervisor employee relationships and highlight the need for respect and mutual trust. Organizational goals, employee efficiency, and productivity can increase in a healthy subordinate supervisor relationship (He & Zhou, 2023). A tense subordinate supervisor relationship may constitute cause for the subordinate to terminate their job (Xu et al., 2020). He and Zhou (2023) suggested that incompetent supervision could forge undesirable turnover. According to Meduri and

Jindal (2021), employees often specified their supervisors' behavior as the main rationale for departing their organizations.

Supervisors can demonstrate poor communication behavior. Faupel and Helpap (2021) explained that subordinates are likely to imitate their supervisor's attitudes and behaviors, which are treated as valid authorities of workplace conduct. One example is the variance in types of communication. Supervisors and subordinates use different types of communication in their relationships. Supervisors use supervisory communication and subordinates use upward communication. Mikkelson et al. (2019) explained that supervisory communication transpires when a supervisor shares information with their subordinates on work related issues, assignments, performance, objectives, and work schedules. Effective communication between subordinates and supervisors can enhance skills and professional knowledge (He & Zhou, 2023; Mikkelson et al., 2019). However, Herr et al. (2022) countered that poor communication between subordinates and supervisors can result in high employee turnover and reduced employee morale.

Faupel and Helpap (2021) referred to upward communication as the exchange of information, in an organizational hierarchy, from subordinates with supervisors. Supervisors use upward communication to identify changes and needs from the employees' viewpoint (Mikkelson et al., 2019). Subordinates can use upward communication to help establish an environment of respect and trust between supervisors and subordinates (He & Zhou, 2023). Faupel and Helpap (2021) suggested that when upward communication is not apparent, organizational leaders can enhance their communication networks and processes to prevent high turnover rates.

Guan and Frenkel (2019) asserted that positive communication transpires when messages between a subordinate and a supervisor are shared in a supportive and informal manner. Faupel and Helpap (2021) indicated that supervisors can use their communications with employees to help influence job satisfaction and commitment.

Guan and Frenkel shared similar findings and added that supportive supervisor communication in the workplace helped organizational leaders reduce voluntary employee turnover. A healthy relationship between supervisors and employees bolsters the employees' dedication to the organization.

# **Supervisor Support and Employee Turnover**

Supervisor support is an essential factor that influences employee engagement.

Kaur and Randhawa (2021a) examined the relationship between supervisor support and organizational citizenship behavior. The authors also examined how participation and job involvement mediate the relationship between supervisor support and organizational citizenship behavior. The authors framed their study in SET to explore the role supportive supervisors play in developing organizational citizenship behavior. According to the researchers, supervisor support has a significant positive effect on organizational citizenship behavior, and the relationship is mediated by participation (Kaur & Randhawa, 2021a). Furthermore, Kaur and Randhawa found that the relationship between supervisor support and organizational citizenship behavior is partially mediated by job involvement. Meduri and Jindal (2021) shared similar findings in their examination of the relationship between the manager's role and employee turnover during the COVID-19 pandemic. Meduri and Jindal concurred with Kaur and Randhawa

that subordinates' turnover would be less if managers were more involved. The researchers stipulated that support from supervisors and managers plays a major role in the social exchange relationship, which in turn affects the employees' level of organizational commitment (Kaur & Randhawa, 2021a; Meduri & Jindal, 2021). The researchers (Kaur & Randhawa, 2021a; Meduri & Jindal, 2021) contradicted earlier researchers (Teoh et al., 2016) who found that while supportive manager behavior did not predict engagement, it successfully predicted job satisfaction and turnover intentions. According to the researchers, the relationship between supportive manager behavior and turnover intention is mediated by job satisfaction but not engagement, and unsupportive manager behavior predicted job dissatisfaction only. The relationship between unsupportive manager behavior and turnover intention was not mediated by either job satisfaction or engagement. While Teoh et al. demonstrated that the positive relationship between turnover and supportive manager behavior is undermined by unsupportive manager behavior, Haridas et al. (2022) found that turnover is indirectly and directly affected by perceived informal organizational career management in a negative way. Teoh et al. highlighted the reciprocal interdependence established when one party acts in a beneficial manner towards a second party. Only the indirect effect was significant regarding perceived formal organizational career management. The relationship between turnover and both types of organizational career management is mediated by trust in management (Haridas et al., 2022). Using the principle of reciprocity, supervisors and other leaders can provide support to their employees in exchange for organizational commitment and other rewards.

Employee engagement is an important component of supervisor support. Kaur and Randhawa (2021b) investigated the role of work-life balance and employee engagement in anticipated supervisor support and turnover intentions relationships. The authors grounded their research on SET by including a model of a comprehensive structure with turnover intentions, employee engagement, and work-life balance as the individual variables, and an organizational variable of perceived supervisor support. Kaur and Randhawa found that the effect of perceived supervisor support has an indirect rather than direct effect on turnover intentions. The authors did demonstrate, however, that employee engagement acts as a mediator in the perceived supervisor support and turnover intentions relationship. However, Chowdhury et al. (2022) investigated the role of social support in the prediction of turnover and found, contrarily, that the association between coworker support and turnover intentions was fully mediated by affective commitment, while the relationship between supervisory support and the intention to leave was only partially mediated by affective commitment. Yucel et al. (2023) aligned with Chowdhury et al. and concluded that the actions and behaviors of supervisors play an essential role in their subordinates' attitudes. As such, if employees receive supervisor support, the issue is less likely to affect the employees' work engagement and probability of leaving. Yucel et al. also found that work engagement and work-family conflict are moderated by supervisor support, and supervisor support has a moderated mediation role in the model in which turnover is dependent and work-family conflict is independent and the mediator variable is work engagement (Yucel et al., 2023). Supervisors can have a significant impact on employee engagement, which is linked to employee turnover.

# **Employee Engagement and Turnover**

Employees who work for supportive supervisors are more likely to have higher levels of employee engagement. Simbula et al. (2023) defined employee engagement as a positive, gratifying, work-related psychological state that emanates from dedication, absorption, and vigor. Meira and Hancer (2021) recognized engagement as an essential element affecting employees' behavior. Furthermore, Meira and Hancer suggested engagement is key to organizational leaders achieving improved performance and increased profitability. Organizational leaders who promote employee development and demonstrate support should expect to have more engagement with their employees (Spoor et al., 2022). Additionally, Spoor et al. recommended frequent communication from supervisors with employees to establish trust. Spoor et al. found that employee engagement was positively affected by supervisors' support. The employee's level of engagement, satisfaction, and commitment is affected by social exchanges and the perception of the employee's personal value to the organization (Chowdhury et al., 2022). Organizational leaders can help mitigate employee turnover by positively influencing employee engagement.

Huang et al. (2021) examined the effect of higher levels of transformational leadership, ethical leadership, and participative leadership on employee engagement. The researchers proposed that more positive growth in employee engagement will cause more negative growth in counterproductive work behaviors (Huang et al., 2021). Furthermore, Huang et al. noted that communication vastly influences employees' engagement levels, as a process of social exchange. The researchers suggested that the social exchanges

between a supervisor and an employee impact the relationship between the employee and the organization, which is a demonstration of the employee reciprocating engagement (Bhatti, 2022; Meira & Hancer, 2021). Bhatti (2022) investigated the action of employee engagement as a mediator between perceived organizational identity, the highperformance work system, and organizational commitment. Further, I investigated the moderating effect of organizational culture on the relationship between perceived organizational identity, high-performance work systems, and employee engagement. Bhatti found that the relationship between organizational commitment and highperformance work system is fully mediated by employee engagement. Alternatively, the relationship between commitment and perceived organizational identity is only partially mediated by employee engagement. Further, Bhatti posited that corporate culture moderates the relationship between employee engagement and high-performance work systems. However, the researcher did not observe moderating effects between employee engagement and perceived organizational identity. The researcher suggested that leaders advance inclusivity throughout their organizations to build employee engagement and commitment (Bhatti, 2022). Ly (2023) shared similar findings in a study investigating the impact of inclusive leadership on employee work engagement and affective organizational commitment. Ly found a significant positive relationship between inclusive leadership and employee work engagement, with affective organizational commitment serving as a partial complementary mediator. The researchers emphasized the importance of promoting inclusive leadership and cultural identity to increase employee work engagement and affective organizational commitment, contributing to

enhanced organizational outcomes (Bhatti, 2022; Ly, 2023). Shuck et al. (2021) explored the engagement and satisfaction enigma and found that job satisfaction was an antecedent of employee engagement. Shuck et al.'s study is significant because the researchers validated the use of SET within an employee engagement environment. Oliveira and Najnudel (2023) found that employee engagement is negatively influenced by abusive supervision. The researchers also found that abusive supervision contributes to increasing subordinates' stress and turnover intention. Further, Oliveira and Najnudel found that engagement mediates the relationship between abusive supervision and turnover intention. Although employee engagement is an essential component of job satisfaction, another important element is organizational commitment.

# **Organizational Commitment and Turnover**

Employees who are engaged in their work and satisfied with their jobs are more likely to commit to their organizations. Bell and Sheridan (2020) defined organizational commitment as an individual's identification with, involvement in, dedication to the organization's goals, and desire to stay in the organization. Pepple et al. (2023) supported the definition and asserted that extrinsic rewards such as pay and fringe benefits are critical factors in influencing levels of commitment. The business leaders proposed that the performance of the business is based on the level of their employees' commitment (Pepple et al., 2023). Organizational leaders who obtain high levels of employee commitment achieve higher levels of job satisfaction and increased employee longevity (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Bell & Sheridan, 2020; Pepple et al., 2023). According to SET, an employee's commitment to an organization can be determined by the employee's

perception of support (Meira & Hancer, 2021; Roch et al., 2019). Other researchers indicated employees' organizational commitment is contingent upon their perceived level of support (Bhatti, 2022; Dessalegn et al., 2021; Ly, 2023). Tsen et al. (2022) compared SET and border theory to differentiate the reasoning behind flex leave, flex time, and homeworking. Work-family conflicts and organizational commitment were the two mediators that represented each theory's mechanism. The researchers found that flex time, flex leave, and homeworking are all positively associated with organizational commitment (Tsen et al., 2022). Furthermore, the researchers demonstrated a negative association between organizational commitment and turnover intention (Tsen et al., 2022). Similarly, Chatzopoulou et al. (2022) found that only external corporate social responsibility is associated with increased levels of employee commitment through the improvement of job satisfaction. Panaccio et al. (2023) examined the importance of perceived supervisor support and supervisor promotion of the organization for employee commitment and retention. In alignment with Tsen et al., Panaccio et al. found that positive supervisor behavior can enhance employee commitment and reduce turnover. Frangieh and Rusu (2021) and Spoor et al. (2022) agreed with Chatzopoulou et al., Panaccio et al., and Tsen et al. that organizational commitment is a major component that impacts employee turnover. Mampuru et al. (2024) also supported the researchers while noting the close relationship between employee commitment and retention. Employees who are satisfied with their jobs feel loyalty to remain in the organization, which can positively impact employee turnover.

#### Job Satisfaction

Researchers studied multiple factors that influence job satisfaction among employees. Some of the factors that influence job satisfaction include supervision, promotions, pay, benefits, co-workers, and communication. Johnson and Rohde (2022), Ullah and Khan (2019), and Widyatama et al. (2021) agreed with DeLay and Clark (2020) about the significance of workplace relationships on job satisfaction. DeLay and Clark (2020) suggested that employees who were satisfied with supervision, promotions, pay, benefits, communication, and co-workers were emotionally connected with the organization. DeLay and Clark found that job satisfaction is positively correlated with transformational leadership qualities. The researchers demonstrated significant positive correlations between transformational leadership styles and the following four elements of job satisfaction: contingent rewards, supervision, communication, and nature of work (DeLay & Clark, 2020). Ullah and Khan (2019) found that both transactional and transformational leadership styles have a significant and positive correlation to job satisfaction, work performance, and organizational commitment. The researchers also showed that compared to the transactional leadership style, the transformational leadership style has a greater influence on organizational commitment and job satisfaction (Ullah & Khan, 2019). Johnson and Rohde (2022) examined whether the relationship between job stress, job satisfaction, and turnover intentions is mediated by emotional exhaustion. Another purpose of the study was to determine if the relationship between job satisfaction, job stress, and turnover intentions as well as emotional exhaustion and job stress is moderated by servant leadership. Johnson and Rohde found

that emotional exhaustion partially mediated the relationship between job satisfaction, job stress, and turnover intention. Furthermore, the relationship between emotional exhaustion and job stress as well as job satisfaction and turnover intention is not moderated by servant leadership (Johnson & Rohde, 2022). The variance in both job satisfaction and turnover intention is a direct result of job stress. Additionally, job stress indirectly contributes to the variance in both job satisfaction and turnover intention by increasing feelings of emotional exhaustion. According to the authors, the effects of both job stress on job satisfaction and turnover intention are partially mediated by emotional exhaustion (Johnson & Rohde, 2022). While Johnson and Rohde (2022) used emotional exhaustion as a mediator, Widyatama et al. (2021) used job satisfaction as a mediator to explore how employee performance is affected by leadership style. Widyatama et al. found that employee performance is not directly influenced by the transactional leadership style or mediated by job satisfaction. The researchers demonstrated that transformational leadership style, on the other hand, has a significant influence on employee performance. Further, Widyatama et al. found that the transformational leadership style has an even stronger impact on employee performance by mediating job satisfaction. In alignment with Widyatama et al., Pu et al. (2024) suggested that job satisfaction may be indirectly or directly impacted by employees' interpersonal interactions, personal development, and the workplace culture. Job satisfaction has a significant impact on employees' decisions to stay with an organization or quit.

# **Strategies to Mitigate Employee Turnover**

Frontline supervisors have an active role in mitigating employee turnover. There are multiple strategies available that frontline supervisors can use to mitigate turnover. Providing supervisor support, two way communication, and a recognition and rewards system are some strategies frontline supervisors can use to help mitigate employee turnover. Kumar (2022) explored strategic techniques and talent management practices for employee retention, to control employee turnover, and to analyze how employee retention and turnover are impacted by talent management practices. Kumar found that employees prefer to stay in an organization that allows them to develop and elevate on the career ladder. The author also found that compensation plans are very helpful in attracting and retaining employees. Kumar's findings validated prior researchers (Bell & Sheridan, 2020; Larsson et al., 2020) who found that employees will remain in an organization longer when they are given regular training and chances to develop. The author highlighted the benefits of talent management in terms of job satisfaction, performance improvement, and employee retention (Kumar, 2022).

Yue et al. (2023) found that the magnitude to which supervisors practiced empathetic communication had substantial consequences on their employees' trust in their supervisors, organizational perception, and eventually, their turnover intentions. When employees have the freedom to communicate with supervisors and a supportive team, employees are more satisfied and want to stay in the organization longer. Patil (2022) aligned with Kumar (2022), and identified skill utilization, rewards and recognition system, setting clear expectations, career and succession planning, and two-

way communication as retention strategies. Donkor et al. (2022) also agreed with Kumar (2022) and Patil (2022) and suggested that turnover was reduced when employees felt included and were rewarded for their performance. Rewards and inclusion lead to job satisfaction and positive affection toward the organization.

Frequent employee turnover is a significant challenge for organizational leaders. In the literature review, I evaluated and synthesized available literature on employee turnover, including turnover intentions and the costs of employee turnover. I analyzed SET as the conceptual framework then contingency theory and transactional leadership as alternative theories. Further, I included a discussion on the leader's role in turnover, leadership development, and leadership styles. Next, I discussed diversity and multicultural management, employee supervisor relationships, supervisor support, employee engagement, organizational commitment, and job satisfaction. I concluded the literature review with strategies that frontline supervisors can use to mitigate employee turnover. In the next section, I will summarize Section 1 and provide an overview of Sections 2 and 3.

#### **Transition**

In Section 1, the foundation of the study, I introduced the specific business problem emerging due to increased turnover and identified that some frontline supervisors lack strategies to mitigate employee turnover. Furthermore, I explained the purpose and nature of the study, shared the research question and interview questions, and provided operational definitions to help readers gain a common perspective. In Section 1, I also discussed assumptions, limitations, and delimitations as well as the

significance of the study. Further, I reviewed professional and academic literature to support SET as the conceptual framework and to explain various factors that impact employee turnover.

In Section 2, I will reiterate the purpose of the study and explain the role of the researcher. I will describe eligibility requirements for participants and expand on the research method and design. I will also include justifications for the population and sampling criteria and a discussion about the procedures for ethical research. Furthermore, I will discuss the processes used for data collection instruments, data collection techniques, data organization techniques, and data analysis. I will close Section 2 by detailing the procedures I included to address dependability, credibility, transferability, confirmability, and data saturation to ensure reliability and validity. In Section 3, I will restate the purpose of the study and present data analysis findings. I will identify specific themes and explain the findings in relation to the themes. I will end the report with recommendations to mitigate employee turnover and summarize opportunities for future research.

# Section 2: The Project

Sustainable organizations require leaders with strategies to maintain organizational commitment and retain employees. Leaders need strategies and skills to improve employee behaviors such as communication and engagement. An appropriate leadership style can result in higher levels of trust, increased work performance, and improved efficiency. The purpose of Section 2 is to establish the role of the researcher, eligibility criteria for participants, research method and design, data collection and analysis, and the reliability and validity of the study to understand the strategies that some frontline supervisors utilize to mitigate employee turnover. This section includes the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, data collection, data analysis, and reliability and validity.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore strategies frontline supervisors use to mitigate employee turnover.

#### **Role of the Researcher**

I was the primary instrument for this study. I researched frontline supervisors' strategies to mitigate employee turnover. My essential task as the researcher in this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to act as the main instrument for collecting data to fulfill the intended study results. Other roles qualitative researchers fill include assessing the literature, determining the sample, enlisting participants, and gathering and analyzing data (Yin, 2018). In addition to enlisting the participants, I served as the interviewer, analyzed the data gathered from all sources, and authored the final study.

My relationship with the topic encompassed previous experience as a frontline supervisor in multiple organizations. The study was conducted in Virginia where I have resided for 7 years. Therefore, I may have included participants or organizations that I have interacted with or have been affiliated with professionally. I complied with *The* Belmont Report to administer the research ethically while protecting and respecting the research participants. The Belmont Report has been a pillar in the ethical conduct of research involving human subjects since it was signed into law in 1979 (Siddiqui & Sharp, 2021). Respect for persons, justice, and beneficence are the three fundamental principles of *The Belmont Report* (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). Researchers can use *The Belmont Report* to help with the following tasks (Paxton, 2020): (a) depicting the distinction between procedure and analysis, (b) determining the role of risk-benefit assessments in research on human subjects, (c) delineating acceptable guidelines for choosing subjects, and (d) highlighting standards for what comprises informed consent. I leveraged *The Belmont Report's* principles and followed the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) guidelines.

I notified participants via the informed consent form of possible risks. Further safeguards I incorporated include using codes to protect the participants' identities and other demographic information and using password-secured files during and after data collection to protect data. During data collection and analysis, I mitigated any personal bias so that the data would not be skewed or disrupted. I mitigated bias by following interview protocols, member checking, and reaching data saturation. Some of the ways I mitigated bias include carefully listening to all participants, recording interviews, and

tracking the participants' opinions and beliefs. Further, I detected and decoded data, identified patterns and themes, and reached conclusions to mitigate biases. Braun and Clarke (2006) defined an interview protocol as the process and guidelines to help the researcher create questions to produce valuable data. Yeong et al. (2018) expanded the definition by adding that researchers use an interview protocol to facilitate the interview process involving various groups of people in a comprehensive, consistent, and systematic way. I assured participants that I would not disclose their names and that identities and organizations would be confidential. I used a reflective journal to track my personal opinions and record my relationship with the data and analysis.

# **Participants**

The eligibility criteria for participants consisted of frontline supervisors who implemented strategies to mitigate employee turnover. Eligible participants were also required to have worked within the same organization for at least 5 years. Additionally, participants must directly supervise four or more subordinates. I used LinkedIn to access participants to verify their ability to meet the minimum requirements. Some participants were from my comprehensive financial management network. I secured professional working relationships over the past 30 years while interacting during meetings and conferences as a financial manager.

I contacted each potential participant via LinkedIn or email, including the informed consent form and an introduction (invitation email) asking the individual to participate in the study. Informed consent and trust are imperative for all research participants, according to Mozersky et al. (2020), who highlighted the significance of

participants' providing explicit consent for researchers to share data from qualitative studies. After receiving an affirmative response from a participant agreeing to participate, I sent them a calendar invitation to coordinate meetings to administer the study. I attached a copy of the consent form and the participant's confirmation email to the calendar invite.

Researchers interact with participants to create qualitative data. I used purposive sampling to recruit six participants from various small and medium sized enterprises located in Virginia for this study. Researchers use purposive sampling to select respondents who are most likely to yield useful and appropriate information (Campbell et al., 2020; Denieffe, 2020). The participants' characteristics align with the overarching research question: What strategies do frontline supervisors use to mitigate turnover among employees?

I used both the research question and the objectives of the study as the basis for selecting participants. Further, participation was contingent on the assumption that certain people may hold essential and alternative perspectives about the issue being studied and should therefore be included in the sample.

## **Research Method and Design**

Researchers should consider all available research methods and designs to decide which will be most appropriate to address their research question. I considered multiple research methods and designs for this study. House (2018) suggested that the research question and research goal must determine the choice of the research method; and that the appropriate method means that any research design should be evaluated on the extent to

which it is able to answer the research question. The methods I considered include qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods; and the research designs are pragmatic inquiry, ethnographic, and phenomenological.

#### **Research Method**

I selected the qualitative research method for this study. Researchers can provide theoretically sound, rigorous, and realistic techniques for the analysis of subjective, ambiguous, and challenging-to-pinpoint phenomena by using a qualitative research method (Bhangu et al., 2023). Researchers use qualitative research methods to describe, interpret, verify, and evaluate issues (Head et al., 2023; Hendren et al., 2023). Further, Albert and Csizér (2022) suggested researchers can use the qualitative method to explore an array of data sources including interviews, participant observations, and organizational records, to understand why a conceptual framework within an identified business problem exists. Researchers can gain awareness of business problems through the views of the participants by using the qualitative research method (Bhangu et al., 2023). In qualitative studies, researchers offer participants opportunities to share their viewpoints, using human understanding within the relationship between the participant and the researcher. Qualitative research was most appropriate for this study because I intended to describe and interpret supervisors' strategies related to employee turnover.

Quantitative was another research method I considered for the study. House (2018) and Saunders et al. (2016) noted that researchers use the quantitative research method to test objective theories by examining the relationship among variables.

Quantitative researchers use surveys and experiments as inquiry strategies; as well as

closed-ended questions, numeric data, and predetermined approaches (Batt & Kahn, 2021), which did not align with the intent of this study. In quantitative studies, researchers gather scientific data and test the data against a theory (House, 2018). Quantitative researchers establish a relationship between the dependent variable and the independent variables by employing a theory for the foundation of the hypotheses. I was not measuring the relationships between variables; therefore, I did not select the quantitative research method.

When researchers combine qualitative and quantitative research, it is considered mixed methods. For research to be defined as mixed methods, qualitative and quantitative data should be purposely integrated or connected (Schoonenboom, 2023; Taguchi, 2018). Researchers use concurrent, sequential, and transformative strategies of inquiry for mixed methods studies (Liu, 2022). Mixed methods researchers employ both open and closedended questions, both predetermined and emerging approaches, and both qualitative and quantitative data and analysis (Schoonenboom, 2023). Mixed methods researchers support philosophical conventions and validation of the conventions to be quantified scientifically (Liu, 2022). Researchers use mixed methods to share business phenomena from both qualitative and quantitative perspectives (Saunders et al., 2016). Furthermore, testing a hypothesis from variable angles is a requirement of mixed methods research. This study did not have a quantitative element; therefore, I did not use mixed methods research because it exceeded the purview of my inquiry.

# **Research Design**

I selected a pragmatic inquiry design for this study. Dixon (2019) and McDermid (2023) defined pragmatic inquiry design as a philosophical tradition researchers use to assert that truth may be interpreted in terms of the practical effects of what is believed and the usefulness of the effects. Pragmatic researchers combine beliefs and actions in a course of inquiry that guides any search for knowledge (Ledger et al., 2023; McDermid, 2023). A pragmatic inquiry design was appropriate for this study because I was able to explore individual experiences, concepts, and processes related to employee turnover. Furthermore, I used pragmatic inquiry design to describe the understanding of meanings and purposes frontline supervisors give to their own actions and interactions with employees.

I also considered ethnographic and phenomenological qualitative research designs for this study. Ethnographic researchers seek to explore the meaning individuals place on the values and beliefs of their cultural group (Celikoglu & Hamarat, 2022; Smith et al., 2011). I did not select ethnographic research because I was not observing participants with shared experiences to collect data. In a phenomenological study, researchers explore a phenomenon to understand its meaning and relevance by those experiencing it (Arnout et al., 2020; Smith et al., 2011). Arnout et al. (2020) asserted that phenomenological researchers describe and attempt to depict participants' interpretations of the phenomenon. I did not select a phenomenological design because although I could use first-hand experiences to describe the meaning of experiences, the phenomenological

design was inadequate to help me explore the motives and justifications of participants' behaviors.

Data saturation is an important aspect of research. Chitac (2022) and Fofana et al. (2020) referred to data saturation as the point when data collected is adequate to cover the themes of interest and that collecting additional data will not provide new applicable information. For this study, I continued asking multiple participants the same interview questions until the information became repetitive. I considered the data as saturated and stopped collecting data when no new themes emerged during analysis.

# **Population and Sampling**

I used purposive sampling for this study. Bullard (2023) defined purposive sampling as a method of deliberately selecting participants to reflect specific characteristics. Ellis (2020) shared a similar definition and added that purposive sampling is a process researchers use to provide rich data to observe and analyze issues. I mitigated ethical concerns by using purposive sampling to select participants.

This qualitative pragmatic inquiry included six frontline supervisors from various industries in the Hampton Roads area who work for different organizations. Hampton Roads is an area in the southeastern corner of Virginia that includes seven core cities. Using various organizations allowed selected participants within the population to provide different perspectives on employee turnover. Ellis (2020) explained the lack of sense it made to study the entire population to understand the answer to a question, whereas Boddy (2016) recommended qualitative researchers refer to the nature of the topic and scope of the study, the contact time to be spent on each individual research

participant, and the similarity of the population under consideration to justify the sample size. The selection of six participants was appropriate for this study to help me support data adequacy, according to Sarfo et al. (2021), who posited that researchers could achieve data saturation by using as few as six participants.

The sample size was a significant component of data collection. According to Busetto et al. (2020), the more useful data collected from each participant, the fewer participants will be needed. Both Ellis (2020) and Yin (2018) explained that researchers can use the appropriate sample size to achieve data saturation and sufficiently answer the research question. To enable themes to emerge, I conducted interviews either in-person, through Zoom, or Microsoft Teams as data collection techniques. To achieve data saturation, I conducted interviews until no new themes emerged.

I used specific criteria to select from a group of participants. Mozersky et al. (2020) recommended defining inclusion and exclusion criteria for study participants to establish quality research standards. In this study, participants were required to work at their current organization for a minimum of 5 years and directly supervise a minimum of four employees. Another requirement was that participants must have implemented successful strategies that mitigated employee turnover.

I recorded in-person interviews with a voice recorder and other interviews using the meeting record option on the online meeting platforms Zoom or Microsoft Teams, which I then uploaded and transcribed to the computer following the interviews. The backup plan was to use a voice recorder to record every interview, which I would then upload and transcribe to the computer. Mozersky et al. (2020) highlighted the importance

of providing research participants with a sense of comfort and control. I allowed participants to interview in a setting that was comfortable and convenient for the participants.

#### **Ethical Research**

The informed consent process is an essential component of research inquiry. Farrugia (2019) explained that for consent to be valid researchers should give participants sufficient and relevant details about the research goals, what participation entails, and the magnitude of any associated risks. Facca et al. (2020) referred to consent as an ongoing ethical obligation when conducting research with human participants. I obtained approval from the Walden University IRB for the study prior to collecting any data. The IRB approval number for this study is 12-19-23-1169360. It expires on December 18, 2024. After receiving IRB approval, I emailed the consent form to prospective participants. Prior to conducting interviews, I ensured all participants had signed and returned their consent form agreeing to participate in the study. Both Farrugia (2019) and Ngozwana (2018) expressed the importance of participants being able to voluntarily choose to participate in the research process. The participants in this study had 2 days to review the consent form information such as the participants' rights and the intent of the research. Additional details I included on the consent form were the type of information to be collected, frequency of participation and duration, the right to not answer certain questions, the right to withdraw from the study, protecting the participants' anonymity and privacy, storing and accessing the data, and that the research process did not involve any conflicts or deception (Farrugia, 2019). I adhered to all principles of *The Belmont* 

Report established by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office for Human Research Protections (1979) to ensure respect, justice, and protection by receiving participant consent and incorporating an interview protocol. I used ethical principles to help conduct responsible research.

Participants had the right to withdraw from the study at any point. Facca et al. (2020) noted the relevance of autonomy, which is the capacity to understand pertinent information about the study to make a knowledgeable voluntary decision, a necessary condition of consent. Josephson and Smale (2020) and Ngozwana (2018) emphasized the significance of the researcher frequently telling participants about their freedom to withdraw without consequences at any time they feel like doing so. I instructed participants that they could notify me of their intent to withdraw by contacting me either verbally or in writing via phone, email, or in person.

Researchers use incentives as a method to recruit participants. While Roa and Biller-Andorno (2022) asserted that incentives compromise the integrity of the research process and its results, Farrugia (2019) proclaimed the researcher can use incentives to help access targeted participants because incentives stimulate participation. Farrugia also warned that incentives can become unethical inappropriate leverage if they are used to persuade or coerce individuals to participate. I did not offer any participation incentives for this study.

Measures that I used to ensure that the ethical protection of participants was adequate include complying with the Belmont Report (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979) principles and guidelines for confidentiality, anonymity, and

participant safety. Researchers maintain confidentiality by not revealing any information they obtain during the research process under any circumstances unless the participant grants permission (Facca et al., 2020; Farrugia, 2019). According to Farrugia, since the researcher's goal is to generate new knowledge and disseminate it, researchers anonymize data to disguise participants' identities. I ensured participants their identities would be protected and not shared without authorized consent.

To safeguard the rights of the participants, I stored the data in a secure location where it will remain for 5 years. Othman and Hamid (2018) identified the narrow proximity between informed consent and confidentiality and emphasized the significance of researchers maintaining trust with participants. Farrugia supported Othman and Hamid's premise and recommended researchers allow participants to select their own pseudonyms as a way of showing respect. I adopted a process like Farrugia (2019) and Ngozwana (2018) who both described giving participants codes when transcribing and translating the data. Ilyas et al. (2020) also supported the use of assigning codes to participants to ensure confidentiality. I assigned numbers to participants and pseudonyms to organizations, such as P1, P2, P3, Tiger1, Tiger2, and Tiger3.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

As the researcher in this qualitative pragmatic inquiry, I was the principal data collection instrument. Gathering specific data that addresses the research problem is essential for a qualitative researcher (Saracho, 2017; Yin, 2018). As the principal data collection instrument, I gathered information from frontline supervisors to understand the strategies to mitigate employee turnover. I conducted semistructured interviews using

open ended questions as the primary source of data collection. Researchers use semistructured interviews with open ended questions to help participants respond in their own words based on their personal experiences and views (Buys et al., 2022; Husband, 2020; McGrath et al., 2019). Using the semistructured format, I built trust and rapport with participants and incorporated open ended questions to probe deeper into employee turnover.

I incorporated an interview protocol (see Appendix) containing details I used to specify the interview phases, timeline, and procedures. Yin (2018) explained that researchers use interview protocols to establish an acceptable technique for conducting interviews. Yeong et al. (2018) added that the interview protocol helps ensure the researcher asks the same questions to all participants and obtains and sustains participants' cooperation while interviewing. I used the interview protocol to develop a suitable means to conduct semistructured interviews that will include 10 open-ended and follow-up questions as necessary (see Appendix).

I used the interview protocol as a guide to assist me before, during, and after each interview. Some factors Buys et al. (2022) recommended researchers consider when establishing the interview protocol include arranging the questions logically to progress from general to more complex and preparing the interview schedules. Buys et al. (2022) and Sandvik and McCormack (2018) advised that while the interview timing must be long enough to collect sufficient data, the timing should also suit the participants. The duration of interviews for this study was 45-60 minutes, and I scheduled the discussions at a time and location preferred by the participants.

I used a reflective journal to ensure accuracy and bolster the reliability and validity of data collection. The reflective journal contained literature references written in the first person detailing the research process, emails, methodological decisions, moments of clarity, and personal notes (Buys et al., 2022). Researchers can use reflective journals to establish linkages and brainstorm questions and ideas that emerge during interviews (Rhodes & Brook, 2021). Buys et al. (2022) emphasized the need for qualitative researchers to maintain reflexivity because interviewing is subjective. After each interview, I wrote down brief notes in a reflective journal about my observations and interview experience.

Member checking is another method I used to ensure accuracy and improve the reliability and validity of the data collection process. Member checking is the process of soliciting participant feedback about one's data or interpretations (Motulsky, 2021). Yeong et al. (2018) attributed the trustworthiness of researchers' interview findings to member checking. Wallwey and Kajfez (2023) proclaimed that member checking is a way to establish communicative validation when collecting and creating data. After conducting the interviews, I summarized the data and emailed the participants, asking them to check my interpretation of their responses.

## **Data Collection Technique**

There are multiple data collection techniques available for qualitative researchers to explore research phenomena. Some of the techniques include interviews, observations, focus groups, and document review (Yin, 2018). A key factor for qualitative researchers to consider in determining the data collection technique is alignment (Chu & Ke, 2017;

Yin, 2018). Chu and Ke (2017) and Yin (2018) encouraged researchers to select data collection techniques that align best with the researchers' study. The research question for this study was "What strategies do frontline supervisors use to mitigate employee turnover?" I determined a semistructured interview would be the best technique to gather data from frontline supervisors across various industries who are knowledgeable about the phenomenon. After I received both IRB and ethics approval, I began the following data collection steps that are approved for qualitative pragmatic inquiries (Walden University, 2016):

- I obtained participant contact information from the researcher's professional network, public sources, or social media. I used purposive sampling to identify potential participants, mainly relying on my professional network and LinkedIn.
- I invited individual interviewees via email or asked people to distribute the
  invitation to their peers (not subordinates) who meet the inclusion criteria.
   Placing ads was also acceptable. I sent potential participants an introductory
  email that included the purpose of the research study and participant
  requirements.
- 3. I shared the consent form prior to the interview so they could respond, "I consent" for my records. After participants responded positively to the initial invitation, I emailed the informed consent form for them to read and respond with "I consent."

- 4. I conducted interviews either remotely (telephone, Zoom, or similar) or in person. Once I received a participant's signed consent form, I contacted the participant about interview dates and time availability. I used email and phone communications to schedule a location, date, and time for the interview with each participant.
- I obtained any publicly available documents. I collected secondary data from
  publicly available documents such as peer reviewed articles and books, and
  data including public websites, publicly disseminated reports, and news
  media.

Collecting data in qualitative studies can be challenging for novice researchers. Sandvik and McCormack (2018) and Yin (2018) noted the importance of researchers having the necessary training and skills in pragmatic qualitative inquiry to develop the interview protocol. Yeong et al. (2018) supported the use of interview protocols and added that researchers use interview protocols to increase the effectiveness of interviews and ensure quality data is collected consistently. Yin posited that researchers should focus the interview on the research question with relevant questions when interviewing the participants. I used the interview protocol (see Appendix) to guide the interviews I conducted.

The interview protocol (see Appendix) included the introduction, interview stage setup, and interview questions. In qualitative interviews, researchers should establish comfortable interactions and build rapport from the start of the interview to evoke cooperation (Husband, 2020; Sandvik & McCormack, 2018). The interview stage setup

consisted of sharing details about the interview procedures and expectations. I scheduled each interview for 45–60 minutes with participants. I conducted all interviews through Microsoft Teams or Zoom. Mirick and Wladkowski (2019) underscored the significance of researchers meeting participants wherever they are most comfortable, either geographically or virtually. I audio recorded the interviews using a portable recorder and the computer platform's recording device. I asked a set of 10 interview questions and follow-up questions (see Appendix). All interview questions were aligned with the original research question so that the responses from participants would be relevant to the objectives of the study. Immediately after the interview, I transcribed the recording to a Word document.

There are advantages and disadvantages to using semistructured interviews. One of the advantages of semistructured interviews is flexibility. Researchers use semistructured interviews to help the researcher collect rich and direct information while expressing their ideas within a specific range (Weller et al., 2018). Furthermore, I could probe participants for deeper responses and clarify misunderstandings if needed. Another advantage of semistructured interviews is the interaction between the researcher and the participant. Husband (2020) suggested that researchers use conversational exchange to establish rapport. Disadvantages of using semistructured interviews include the small sample size; the researcher depending on participants' subjective experiences; potentially not establishing trust with the participant; and misinterpreting the participants' responses, which could cause incorrect theme analysis (Buys et al., 2022; Husband, 2020; McGrath et al., 2019). Managing biases and data collection instrumentation rigor are significant

challenges for qualitative researchers (Chenail, 2011). Techniques to mitigate the challenges include field testing the interview protocol, conducting a pilot study, and interviewing the investigator.

Researchers consider pilot studies to test study instruments and techniques. I did not conduct a pilot study. Instead, I relied on the interview the investigator approach Chenail recommended. I assumed the role of a study participant and enlisted a colleague to conduct the interview using the same questions I used in the study. I recorded the interview and reviewed the contents to evaluate the information obtained via the questions (Chenail, 2011). I solicited guidance and support as needed from my doctoral committee chairperson.

One week after the initial interview, I scheduled a second meeting to conduct member checking. During this follow up meeting, I allowed participants to make any necessary changes to the summary of their initial interview transcripts or make corrections to ensure the answers reflected the participants' views on the interview questions. Researchers use member checking to allow participants to verify their responses, which can reduce data misinterpretations (Motulsky, 2021; Thomas, 2017; Wallwey & Kajfez, 2023). I incorporated member checking to enhance the validity and reliability of the study.

## **Data Organization Technique**

Researchers use data organization to keep track of the data collected during research studies. Broman and Woo (2018) and Yin (2018) explained that researchers use data organization to manage access to research materials and to support data analysis. I

used (a) Microsoft Excel, (b) Microsoft Word, (c) a reflective journal, and (d) a research log to keep track of data; and Dedoose data analysis software to organize the data. I transcribed the recorded interviews from each participant into a Microsoft Word file, highlighting initial themes and codes. I used Microsoft Excel to keep track of all codes and themes. I used a reflective journal to keep track of personal observations and feelings. Researchers use reflective journals to mitigate bias and enhance transparency (Rhodes & Brook, 2021). Mayernik (2019) encouraged researchers to keep written journals to discover, capture, assess, manage, and preserve data from participants. I also maintained a research log in Microsoft Excel to track all communications with participants. After I transcribed the data, I imported each Microsoft Windows file into Dedoose for coding. When coding was finished, I labeled and categorized the data to search for notable themes.

I saved the exported information from Dedoose and all data related to the study from Microsoft Windows onto a password protected USB drive and portable hard drive. At the end of the research study, I will store the USB, portable hard drive, and raw data such as field notes and the reflective journal in a secured file cabinet for 5 years. Bender et al. (2017) explained the importance of researchers ensuring the confidentiality of the participant's identity and safeguarding the data collected. At the end of 5 years, I will shred and delete all study files to safeguard participants.

#### **Data Analysis**

There are multiple data analysis processes available for qualitative research. Some of the data analysis processes qualitative researchers use are analytic induction, thematic

analysis, and template analysis. For this qualitative pragmatic inquiry, I used Braun and Clarke's (2006) six step thematic analysis process to analyze the research data. Thematic analysis is a theoretically flexible process researchers use to describe, analyze, and report qualitative data (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). Roberts et al. (2019) noted that thematic analysis comprises identifying issues pertinent to the research question, background, and theoretical framework. I completed the following steps:

- I reviewed and transcribed the data. Researchers immerse themselves in the
  data by reviewing transcripts continually to familiarize themselves with the
  content (Oluwafemi et al., 2021; Sheard, 2022). I read each transcript
  repeatedly to determine recurring patterns and to enhance my understanding
  of the phenomenon.
- 2. I created codes. Researchers use coding to describe large portions of text and segments of information in new ways (Braun & Clarke, 2006). There are several computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software systems that researchers use to support coding and data analysis such as Dedoose, Atlasti, and NVivo. Huynh (2021) explained that researchers can use Dedoose to support the development of codebooks to organize and analyze research data. I used Dedoose to efficiently organize the data and classify the codes and themes that emerged.
- 3. I searched for themes. Braun and Clarke (2006) and Sheard (2022) emphasized the significance of researchers looking across the data to locate recurring meanings. Researchers use patterns to describe themes and analyze

- interrelationships that the researcher summarizes to establish thematic statements (Sheard, 2022). I classified patterns from the codes and developed categories to identify dominant themes and subthemes.
- 4. I reviewed all the themes developed in the previous step. Researchers use theme identification to determine the significance of the data in relation to the research question (Braun & Clarke, 2006). During this step, I consolidated all similar themes. I ended this step by clarifying and reorganizing themes.
- 5. I characterized and labeled the themes I identified during step 4. Researchers use themes to help classify new data to explore (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). Mattimoe et al. (2021) advised that after establishing codes, the researcher must group similar codes and then characterize and label themes. This step, according to Braun and Clarke (2006), is a continuing analysis to characterize each theme's details, identify each theme's meaning, and determine what element of the data each theme represents. I thoroughly analyzed each theme to determine its applicability to the research question.
- 6. I created the report. Braun and Clarke (2006) suggested researchers develop the thematic analysis as a succinct, comprehensible, probable, nonrepetitive report across themes in the sixth step. The researcher, using this step, develops an analytical assertion regarding the research question in the framework of extant literature (Mattimoe et al., 2021). After I completed the thematic analysis process, I presented exhaustive findings regarding the key themes and

the correlations among the themes, the conceptual framework, and the literature, including new studies.

## Reliability and Validity

A major difference between qualitative and quantitative research is the criteria researchers use to establish reliability and validity. Researchers (Coleman, 2021; Langtree et al., 2019; Rose & Johnson, 2020) defined validity and reliability from a qualitative research perspective as various techniques that qualitative researchers use to support investigative rigor. Qualitative researchers focus on techniques that enhance credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability to establish reliability and validity.

## Reliability

Reliability is an essential construct researchers use to ensure trustworthiness in a qualitative research study. Spiers et al. (2018) explained that in qualitative research, researchers ground reliability in the concept of data adequacy, which makes it possible for researchers to demonstrate consistent support for one's analysis among participants. Watts and Finkenstaedt-Quinn (2021) offered a similar definition and added that research is reliable when qualitative researchers use a repetitive process to respond to the same phenomena despite the circumstances of the research implementation. Qualitative researchers use methods such as member checking, content analysis, and triangulation to establish reliability (Madill & Sullivan, 2018; Watts & Finkenstaedt-Quinn, 2021). For this qualitative pragmatic inquiry, I used member checking during data collection and data analysis to support the study's reliability. Madill and Sullivan (2018) referred to

member checking as a flexible process researchers use to consult with participants at different points in the research. I used the interview protocol (see Appendix) to solicit feedback from participants after I transcribe the interviews and after analyzing themes and codes.

# **Dependability**

Qualitative researchers use dependability to measure the reliability of the data analysis process. Researchers achieve dependability when the researchers produce a thoroughly documented, logical, and traceable research procedure (Galli et al., 2021; Moon et al., 2016). Korstjens and Moser (2018) suggested researchers use an audit trail as a strategy to address dependability. Researchers use audit trails to describe their research procedures transparently from the beginning of a research project to the reporting of the results (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Galli et al. recommended researchers use a log to record the procedures used to collect, organize, and analyze data to increase the data's reliability. I maintained a research log throughout the data collection and data analysis process to keep data organized and address dependability.

#### Validity

Researchers use validity to support trustworthiness in a qualitative study. Validity is achieved when researchers answer their study's research question and truthfully record the findings (Coleman, 2021; Morse, 2015). Coleman shared that researchers use validity to ensure that the research data correctly reflects the phenomenon. Rose and Johnson (2020) opined that member checking is the most popular form of enhancing validity in qualitative research. I incorporated member checking as an iterative process throughout

the study. Rose and Johnson underscored the need for researchers to conduct member checking continually for the data to be proven. I conducted member checking during the data collection and data analysis phases of the study.

#### Credibility

Credibility is an essential element of qualitative research. Researchers (Korstjens & Moser, 2018) defined credibility as the confidence readers of the research can place in the truth of the research findings. Further, credibility determines whether the research findings depict logical information inferred from the participants' original data and is an accurate interpretation of the participants' original views (Holter, 2022; Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Rose & Johnson, 2020). Some strategies qualitative researchers use to ensure credibility are triangulation, persistent observation, prolonged engagement, and member checking (Holter, 2022; Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Rose & Johnson, 2020). For this qualitative pragmatic inquiry, member checking was the most suitable strategy to ensure credibility. The member checking process strengthens the credibility of the data because the respondents and researcher view the data with different eyes (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Researchers feed data, interpretations, analytical categories, and conclusions back to members of the groups from whom the data was originally obtained (Holter, 2022; Korstjens & Moser, 2018). I used member checking by having participants corroborate my interpretations of the data collected from the semistructured interviews and my transcriptions and codes incorporated during data analysis to ensure the summaries accurately represented what the participants intended to communicate.

#### **Transferability**

When other researchers can conduct the same study in different locations with other participants and achieve the same results, one has met the criteria for transferability. Tuval-Mashiach (2021) defined transferability as the ability of researchers to apply the findings of one study to another. Korstjens and Moser (2018) emphasized that the reader makes the transferability judgement, not the researcher. A strategy Korstjens and Moser suggested researchers use to enable readers to determine if findings are transferable to their own setting is for the researcher to provide a rich and thick description of the research process. To support transferability, researchers should describe their behavior and experiences, as well as the context and setting (Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Tuval-Mashiach, 2021). I submitted detailed descriptions of the research problem, procedures, analysis, and findings. Furthermore, I provided the interview protocol (see Appendix) that readers can use to judge whether the study is transferable to their own settings.

#### Confirmability

Confirmability is another element researchers use to ensure the validity of qualitative research. Qualitative researchers use confirmability to demonstrate objectivity during the research process (Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Langtree et al., 2019). Abdalla et al. (2018) posited that a researcher who maintains objectivity during qualitative research helps protect the findings from personal bias. I interpreted the data collected from each participant's interview and validated the data using the Dedoose software application. Further, I maintained a reflective journal and a detailed record of all procedures to support the confirmability of the research data.

#### **Data Saturation**

Data saturation is a critical component of the validity of qualitative research. Qualitative researchers do not achieve validity if they do not reach data saturation. Braun and Clarke (2021), Fofana et al. (2020), Guest et al. (2020), and Yin (2018) referred to data saturation as the research point when no new themes or information emerge and there is sufficient data to replicate the research. I continued to gather data from all sources until no additional themes or codes emerged. Data saturation can be reached with as few as two participants (Yin, 2018). Chitac (2022) and Yin noted that data saturation, which must be achieved by collecting thick and rich data, cannot be ensured by the number of participants alone. To achieve the data saturation point for this study, I used the interview protocol (see Appendix) to conduct semistructured interviews with six frontline supervisors until no new information was collected and no new themes or codes emerged.

#### **Transition and Summary**

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore the strategies that frontline supervisors use to mitigate employee turnover. In Section 2, I focused on the researcher's role and detailed the process of identifying and selecting participants. Next, I discussed the research method and design followed by the information I used to determine the population and sample size. To address ethical research and comply with IRB requirements, I focused on practices I incorporated to ensure strict ethical standards such as implementing member checking and reflexivity, which enhance reliability and validity. I also discussed procedures for data collection instruments, data collection

techniques, data organization techniques, data analysis, and specific steps I took to ensure reliability and validity. In Section 3, I will use data triangulation of interviews, publicly available documents, and field journal information to provide an analysis of the data. I will use the findings to highlight the study's relevance and application to real-world circumstances. I will demonstrate how frontline supervisors learned from the events and how applying the findings could support social change. I will also provide recommendations for future research.

# Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore strategies frontline supervisors use to mitigate employee turnover. I explored the successful employee turnover mitigation strategies for frontline supervisors from various professional industries in southern Virginia. Data were collected from six frontline supervisors using semistructured interviews. I analyzed the interview data thematically and organized my analysis using Dedoose qualitative software. Identification codes for the frontline supervisors were P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, and P6. I found that frontline supervisors primarily use (a) communication, (b) supervisor support, (c) employee engagement, and (d) rewards and recognition to mitigate employee turnover successfully. Furthermore, frontline supervisors applied 15 strategies as part of their approaches to employee turnover. The main themes support the conceptual framework, which was SET. The themes also align with the research topic, the objectives, and the overarching research question for this study. In this section, I will present detailed findings and describe how business leaders can apply employee turnover mitigation strategies to professional practice. Additionally, I will specify implications for social change, offer recommendations for action and further research, provide my reflections, and present the study's conclusion.

## **Presentation of the Findings**

The research question guiding this study was: What strategies do frontline supervisors use to mitigate employee turnover? To answer the research question, I

conducted semistructured interviews and collected data from frontline supervisors discussing strategies to mitigate employee turnover. Four primary themes that emerged from the data were (a) communication, (b) supervisor support, (c) employee engagement, and (d) rewards and recognition. From the primary themes, 11 subthemes emerged.

#### **Theme 1: Communication**

Communication emerged from the data as a strategy frontline supervisors use to mitigate employee turnover. All six participants identified communication as an essential employee turnover mitigation strategy. Furthermore, the literature supported the findings that communication is crucial for healthy employee supervisor relationships. Duarte and Silva (2023) identified organizational communication as one of the most important reasons behind employees' intention to remain in their jobs. Vercic et al. (2023) connected higher levels of internal communication satisfaction to increased job satisfaction and commitment, increased employee engagement, and perceived organizational support. Three subthemes related to communication emerged from the data: (a) open environment, (b) technology, and (c) multiple communication methods.

#### Open Environment

Participants described creating an environment where employees feel comfortable enough to speak about their concerns. Morelli (2022) recommended supervisors build a culture that nurtures stakeholder relationships, demonstrating transparency and promoting inclusiveness. P2 shared that creating "a no judgement zone where employees can discuss issues and take responsibility for mistakes" was intentional. P3 discussed using effective body language, listening intently, and aligning the appropriate communication style with

the needs of her employees to establish an open environment. P5 stated, "Offering a space for employees to speak openly and feel supported is one strategy for maintaining employee commitment to the organization." Furthermore, P5 added, "It's important for supervisors to be walking around interacting up close with their employees to learn verbal and nonverbal behaviors."

#### **Technology**

Using the appropriate technology is an essential element of a communication strategy. Kim and Chon (2022) noted that organizational leaders increase access to communication among employees to boost work effectiveness. The researchers credited communication technologies such as social media, email, video messaging, mobile, and intranet with strengthening employees' communication and performance. In my study, each participant described how they incorporated technology to communicate with remote employees due to the COVID-19 pandemic. One hundred percent of the participants credited Microsoft Teams, Zoom, and group messages as "helpful teambuilding tools during the pandemic." P4 discussed bridging communication gaps by encouraging technologies other than email as the main channels for everyday communication. P4 stated, "The more personal interaction possible with phone, chat, and video technology helps ensure employees are able to build trust and develop informal relationships that improve collaborations and build a sense of teamwork."

#### Multiple Communication Methods

Employees have different communication styles and skills. Using multiple methods of communication can help convey messages to diverse teams in the workplace.

The findings are consistent with Zarei et al. (2024), who noted that human interactions, such as communication, create social networks and promote diversity. Men et al. (2023) emphasized that due to the increase in workforce diversity in most industries, it is essential for organizational leaders to establish practices that engage employees from diverse backgrounds. When asked about what strategies were most effective to reduce turnover, P1 identified the need to increase lines of communication. P1 stated, "In addition to email communication, I used phone calls, video calls, group messaging, in person team meetings, and one on one sessions." P3 responded,

My team consists of millennials, Generation X, and baby boomers. Some team members prefer a phone call, some prefer an email, and others prefer a text message. I use different lines of communication to send the same message to make sure it is received, and everybody feels included.

In response to the challenges experienced when implementing successful strategies to reduce turnover, P6 described "difficulties communicating with geographically dispersed employees who had diverse methods of communication." P6 credited technology and providing resources and support to employees with helping resolve the challenges.

# **Theme 2: Supervisor Support**

The supervisor support theme was consistent with the literature. Jun et al. (2023) postulated that employees' relationships with their supervisors directly influence employee turnover, and supervisor support is effective at retaining employees through the establishment of trust. All six participants identified supervisor support as a significant employee turnover mitigation strategy. According to the participants, employees are more

satisfied with their jobs and want to stay in the organization longer when the employees have supportive supervisors. Three subthemes related to supervisor support emerged: (a) assist employees with career development, (b) provide feedback, and (c) offer empathy and motivation.

# Assist Employees With Career Development

Supervisors helping employees improve their careers was a subtheme related to supervisor support that emerged from the data. Participants identified supervisors assisting employees with career development as essential for building positive relationships. Ng et al. (2022) posited that when supervisors implement career development practices with their employees, the employees reciprocate with productivity and loyalty. P1 discussed the benefits of implementing a career development program, noting the growth in skills and the exchange of new information among employees.

Regarding career development, P2 described establishing a mentorship program that started during the employee onboarding process. P3 stated, "I provide opportunities for employees to attend developmental training, seminars, and career workshops." P5 mentioned having formal and informal career progression discussions with her employees, sharing career resources, and creating a mentoring program for employees.

#### Provide Feedback

The subtheme of providing feedback was supported by the literature and 100% of the participants. Each participant encouraged frequent feedback between supervisors and employees as a strategy to mitigate employee turnover. Zhu et al. (2023) opined that based on its role as both a basic top-down communicative style to contribute evaluative

information on employees' job performance and a common workplace scenario, supervisor feedback is considered a principal component in predicting employee voice. P1 shared, "A major aspect of establishing and maintaining work relationships is providing and accepting feedback, which enables me to identify negative behaviors and reinforce positive behaviors so the appropriate changes can be made." P6 added that developmental feedback was part of her employee retention strategy geared toward growth.

## Offer Empathy and Motivation

The subtheme of offering empathy and motivation emerged from the data as an important factor for supervisors to continually explore with their employees in routine interactions. According to Yue et al. (2023), empathy entails expressing support and concern for employees. Empathetic leaders should assist employees to deal with logistical and emotional challenges while also helping organizational leaders navigate uncertain political, financial, and social issues that they encounter (Yue et al., 2023). Participants shared that when supervisors offered empathy and motivation employees were more likely to be engaged and focused on accomplishing their tasks. P2 stated, "Practicing empathy created a culture where employees are motivated to be good to others because they consider how they wish to be treated and think about what it would be like to be in the other person's position." P4 discussed showing concern for her employees' families and personal interests outside of the organization. P4 added, "Implementing empathy into my routine employee interactions was one of the most rewarding practices for engaging and motivating employees. Regularly checking in with my employees, listening to them,

and inquiring about them and their loved ones paid huge dividends." P6 discussed the importance of listening to employees even if it was not about work. P5 shared, "Sometimes employees just need to vent so they can clear their minds in order to focus on work," while adding that listening and being empathetic helps build a trusting relationship with employees.

# **Theme 3: Employee Engagement**

Employee engagement emerged from the data as an important component of employees' behavior. Men et al. (2023) posited that workplace factors such as social support, rewards and recognition, and job characteristics can positively influence employee engagement. All six participants identified employee engagement as an essential strategy to mitigate employee turnover. Three subthemes related to employee engagement emerged: (a) trust-based relationships, (b) training opportunities, and (c) flexibility.

#### Trust-Based Relationships

The subtheme of trust-based relationships emerged from the data as a significant factor for employee engagement related to social support. Jun et al. (2023) postulated that supervisor trust positively impacts individual and organizational effectiveness. P3 stated, "When my employees trust me, that generates a wide range of positive outcomes ... like better work performance, more satisfaction in their jobs, and less intent on leaving the organization." P5 shared that establishing relationships based on trust with her employees "created a path for a better exchange of ideas and knowledge in the workplace."

## Training Opportunities

The subtheme training opportunities emerged from the data as an essential component of employee engagement. All six participants identified training opportunities as an effective strategy to mitigate employee turnover. The findings aligned with Martini et al. (2023), who used SET to demonstrate that when organizational leaders take care of their employees by investing in their development and training, employees reciprocate with increased dedication to the organization. The participants shared a common approach to mitigating employee turnover related to training, which included developing employees' technical skills and improving employees' decision making processes. P3 described implementing small group staff training sessions:

Every Thursday, I would close the office to customers and our team would get together in the conference room to have training for an hour. The topic was usually based on upcoming policy changes or anything employees were having systemic troubles with. Sometimes, I picked the training topic and instructor, and other times, one of the employees recommended a topic and volunteered to teach the training. The training was great for team building because the employees learned from each other, and I didn't have to provide a lot of extra resources.

P5 credited her employee training program, which included (a) new employee orientation, (b) technical skills training, (c) employee cross training, and (d) soft skills training, with improving employee commitment and teamwork.

## **Flexibility**

The subtheme flexibility emerged from the data as an important factor for employee engagement related to job characteristics. Sekhar and Patwardhan (2023) found that supervisors' support mediated the relationship between flexible working arrangements and job performance. The researchers postulated that employees feel more valued and perform their jobs better when they are supported by their supervisors (Sekhar & Patwardhan, 2023). Flexible working arrangements include remote or telework options, flexible hours, and compressed or adjustable work weeks. Although P1 described offering telework options as an effective employee retention strategy, this participant also mentioned several challenges:

It's difficult to know when employees need support, challenging to evaluate their performance, and hard to provide feedback. ... Even though employees appreciated the freedoms and options of teleworking, it came with its own set of challenges ... but working through and overcoming them helped us grow as a team, so the benefits made it a worthwhile policy.

P1 described implementing increased communication and employee monitoring to overcome the challenges of teleworking. P1 added, "I created virtual training and team building activities to ensure regular interactions due to less frequent in-person interactions." P3 discussed implementing a compressed work week for her employees as a strategy to mitigate employee turnover. P3 shared,

I allowed each employee to select their own regular day off or RDO each pay period. It increased morale, team cohesion, and loyalty; but at times, I had to adjust the schedule to accommodate changes in employees' personal lives.

Adjustments required employees to engage with me and each other regularly, which established a culture of trust and communication to work through friction ... like when two employees requested the same RDO and only one could be approved.

P5 discussed using flexibility as a strategy to support employees dealing with work life balance conflicts, such as adjustments to childcare schedules.

#### Theme 4: Rewards and Recognition

Rewards and recognition emerged from the data as a strategy frontline supervisors use to mitigate employee turnover. According to Martini et al. (2023), when organizational leaders demonstrate a responsibility toward their employees' needs and provide sufficient nonmonetary and monetary rewards, employees develop greater commitment toward their organization. One hundred percent of the participants credited rewards and recognition as an essential employee turnover mitigation strategy. Two subthemes related to rewards and recognition emerged: structured rewards and incentives, and informal recognition.

#### Structured Rewards and Incentives

The subtheme of structured rewards and incentives emerged from the data as positively impacting employee turnover. Compensation and incentives play important roles in employee retention because employees expect appropriate rewards for work well done (Sorn et al., 2023). The findings were consistent with the literature. Chand et al. (2022) noted that rewards, which can be financial or nonfinancial, play a pivotal role in

improving employees' performance and motivation. P1 described incentivizing employees with "performance bonuses, tuition coverage, time off awards, and early promotions." P2 discussed the use of rewards and incentives to increase employee commitment. P2 stated, "Performance bonuses and annual raises keep my team motivated and dedicated to the organization." P6 mentioned creating guidelines for performance bonuses and incentives for cash awards. P6 added, "The guidelines encouraged employees to strive for excellence."

## Informal Recognition

The subtheme informal recognition emerged from the data as an effective strategy to enhance employee performance and retention. According to Chand et al. (2022), leaders can use recognition as a tool to acknowledge employee performance based on true feedback. There was a consensus among the participants that informal recognition is one of the easiest employee turnover mitigation strategies to implement. P2 described routinely expressing gratitude to employees for completed tasks, offering written and verbal praise to employees, and hosting employee appreciation luncheons as part of her employee recognition program. Regarding the most effective strategies, P4 added,

Having a peer recognition program is just as important as having a cash award program because not everybody is motivated by money ... But the key thing is finding out what motivates your employees. ... I implemented a peer-to-peer recognition program that boosted positive behaviors, encouraged dialogue, and helped with the sharing of suggestions and opinions among employees.

## **Relevance of the Findings to the Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework for this study was SET. Blau (1964) established SET as the exchange of monetary and nonmonetary benefits between the employee and the organization based on feelings of long-term focus, trust, obligation, and shared values. I used SET to interpret the interactions between frontline supervisors and their employees. The findings indicated that all participants implemented strategies based on SET to mitigate employee turnover. Proponents of SET argued that based on the principles of reciprocity, interdependence, and self-interest, social exchanges create a sense of trust and duty related to behaviors that are contingent on rewards from others (Blau, 1964; Emerson, 1976). Participants described how their employees reciprocated positive behaviors in exchange for rewards and benefits. P3 shared that practices she implemented to retain employees enhanced communication and trust from employees. P5 emphasized the positive benefits of supervisor support stating, "My employee retention practices focus on developing and supporting employees, which encourage them to perform better and commit more to the organization." Further, there was a consensus among the participants that employee engagement increased when supervisors listened to employees and offered opportunities for career development within the organization.

The primary relevance of the findings to the conceptual framework is that the four main themes that emerged from the data: (a) communication, (b) supervisor support, (c) employee engagement, and (d) rewards and recognition align with the main principles of SET. The findings indicated that organizational communication improves as frontline supervisors' and employees' relationships develop. This aligned with Zhang et al. (2022)

who noted that communication improves efficiency in obtaining an organization's established goal based on employees' interdependence. Using the principle of reciprocity, frontline supervisors may support their employees in exchange for organizational commitment and other rewards. All six participants described practices they used to support their employees with career development and work life balance issues. Trust, established through positive communication, improves information sharing and employee engagement (Zhang et al., 2022). The findings indicated frontline supervisors who promote employee development and provide support can expect to have more engaged employees. The participants also concurred that rewards and recognition can be used to encourage employee commitment and reduce turnover. The findings aligned with Martini et al. (2023), who noted that when organizational leaders offer sufficient rewards and recognition, employees develop greater commitment toward their organization. Hammond et al. (2023) postulated that an employee's level of engagement and commitment is affected by social exchanges. The participants' use of (a) communication, (b) supervisor support, (c) employee engagement, and (d) rewards and recognition to mitigate turnover is consistent with the literature on SET.

#### **Applications of the Findings to Effective Business Practice**

The findings are applicable to current business practices. Furthermore, the findings were consistent with Yue et al. (2023) who used SET to show that employee turnover is contingent on supervisors communicating with their employees, developing their employees, and establishing trusting relationships with their employees. The findings may apply to effective business practice in four ways. First, organizational

leaders may use the findings to establish employee retention strategies to improve productivity and increase profits. Dwivedi et al. (2023) used SET to examine the influence of human relations on organizational sustainment. In alignment with the participants I interviewed, the researchers showed that organizational productivity, profits, and sustainability are improved by appropriate investment in the development of the employees (Dwivedi et al., 2023). The second practical use of the findings is that organizational leaders may use the findings to implement employee training and development programs that improve the relationships between supervisors and their employees. The third practical use of the findings is that organizational leaders may use the findings to understand frontline supervisors' essential roles in establishing and implementing employee engagement strategies. According to SET, employees' engagement and commitment to their tasks and organization is a repayment of how they are treated by their supervisors (Yin et al., 2023). The fourth practical use of the findings is that organizational leaders may use them to understand the significance of frontline supervisors effectively communicating with their employees to build trust and cultivate employee engagement in employee supervisor relationships.

# **Applications to Professional Practice**

Business leaders from various industries in small and medium sized organizations can use the findings to develop strategies that mitigate employee turnover. The applicability of the findings regarding employee turnover business practices is reducing the cost of employee turnover and maximizing organizational sustainability.

Organizational leaders rely on employees to achieve sustainment. According to the

findings, in exchange for organizational commitment employees expect to be empowered, engaged, and rewarded. Frontline supervisors need effective strategies to identify, understand, and address issues related to employee turnover. Employee turnover negatively impacts organizations' profits and productivity. Organizational leaders fail to achieve sustainability without retaining committed and engaged employees (Desmarais & Grenier, 2023). Organizational leaders across various industries can apply this study to improve their communication, supervisor support, employee engagement, and leadership development programs.

The findings indicated that leaders should leverage their communication skills, know their employees as individuals, and be able to determine which engagement factors and strategies will be most effective in each situation. In addition to using the findings to improve trust and employee well being, organizational leaders can apply the findings to improve the employee talent management processes. Yildiz and Esmer (2023) described talent management as a combination of seven main functions: 1 = talent planning, 2 = talent identification, 3 = talent attraction, 4 = talent acquisition, 5 = talent development, 6 = talent deployment, and 7 = talent retention. Organizational leaders can positively impact turnover by actively engaging in the employee experience, from talent planning to talent retention.

## **Implications for Social Change**

The main positive social change implication is the potential to help business leaders offer better strategies to mitigate employee turnover, which can improve organizational sustainability. According to Singh et al. (2023), organizational leaders

may profit from investing in CSR initiatives in multiple ways, including cost reduction, organizational identification, risk reduction, job performance, customer loyalty, firm reputation, increased total quality and productivity, ethical culture, and goodwill creation. Additionally, Singh et al. (2023) emphasized that in addition to improving society's well being, improving businesses' reputations and overall organizational performance is a CSR benefit. Business leaders who understand how to mitigate employee turnover can provide tangible benefits such as reducing hiring costs, training costs, and administrative and productivity costs for their organizations. Mitigating employee turnover is crucial because employees who help drive innovation and enhance productivity are organizational leaders' most invaluable assets. The benefits of mitigating employee turnover extend from employees, employers, and their organizations to their communities. When organizational leaders reduce employee turnover costs, they have more resources to dedicate to their communities (Tyler, 2021). Business leaders can use the results of this study to provide frontline supervisors with methods to increase employee commitment and mitigate employee turnover.

#### **Recommendations for Action**

It is important for organizational leaders to pay attention to strategies that can successfully mitigate turnover. Jun et al. (2023) noted that high employee turnover can negatively impact organizational performance. Other negative implications of turnover include reduced productivity and increased costs (Jun et al., 2023). I concluded that frontline supervisors primarily use (a) communication, (b) supervisor support, (c) employee engagement, and (d) rewards and recognition to mitigate employee turnover

successfully. Based on the results, the recommendations for action include organizational leaders focusing on four major tasks to mitigate employee turnover.

First, organizational leaders must ensure that frontline supervisors communicate appropriately with their employees. In the employee supervisor relationship, communication should flow up and down. Some examples of effective forms of communication include one-on-one meetings between supervisors and their employees, organizational town halls, and employee surveys. Communication is more than the words that are said among individuals. Participants noted the importance of supervisors tailoring communication to their specific employees, such as knowing when to use social media, other technology, or different culturally respectful ways to convey messages effectively.

The second recommendation for action is that organizational leaders offer leadership development programs that address communication, employee development, and supervisor support. Participants shared that certain roles are specific to their organization and have systems and processes that routinely change. Organizational leaders can use leadership development programs to improve organizational communication, teach employees new skills, and cross train employees. Several researchers (Ohlsson, 2023; Vongswasdi et al., 2023) credit such programs with improving leaders' decision making, increasing productivity, and training future organizational leaders.

The third recommendation for action is for organizational leaders to emphasize to frontline supervisors the importance of employee engagement. According to a Gallup poll (Harter, 2023), the employee's relationship with his or her managers accounts for 70% of

the variance in employee engagement. Hammon et al. (2023) described employee engagement as helping employees focus, sustain energy, remain invested in their work, and stay motivated. Based on SET, when employees are empowered, they reciprocate with increased engagement and organizational commitment.

The final recommendation for action is for organizational leaders to promote the use of rewards and recognition to mitigate employee turnover. Participants described successfully incorporating rewards and recognition during performance evaluations.

Mehak and Batcha (2024) noted a direct correlation between rewards and employee job performance. Business leaders from various industries can use the findings to help improve their organizations. I will submit this study to the ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database upon final approval. Furthermore, I will share this study with other professionals for dissemination via business publications, scholarly journals, and conferences.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

This research contributes to the literature on strategies for mitigating employee turnover. Based on the findings, I recommend further research into employee turnover focused specifically on industries with the highest turnover rates. Brunau (2023) reported that the industries with the highest turnover rates include (a) leisure and hospitality, (b) retail trade, and (c) transportation. The literature review indicated more employees will remain in their organization if they are satisfied with their jobs, supported by their supervisors, and offered regular opportunities to develop (Jun et al., 2023; Martini et al.,

2023; & Romao et al., 2022). Organizational leaders need to understand how to retain their employees, and further research would help to identify effective strategies.

Although I kept a detailed research log to help me remain impartial, neutral, and objective, the findings are limited by potential researcher bias. Furthermore, I used a sample size of six participants, which limited my ability to generalize the results. The participants all worked in Virginia; therefore, the participants' views do not represent all industry leaders in the United States. Future researchers should expand the geographic boundary of this study to include other areas in the United States. The focus of this study was on frontline supervisors. Future researchers could expand the target population's scope to include leaders other than frontline supervisors, such as executive or middle level leaders.

#### Reflections

During the DBA doctoral study process, I experienced several challenges. Some challenges were unplanned distractions, and others required me to address personal biases and preconceived ideas about the study. Some of the unplanned distractions that made the process difficult included the death of two close family members, one of my two toddlers transitioning from a full time to part time student, and my spouse deciding to start a business 6 months after I started the program. Furthermore, I submitted my voluntary resignation to my employer 1 year before beginning my doctoral study. My experience made it challenging to remain objective and free of bias and preconceived ideas. During the study, I used a reflective journal, challenged my assumptions, and incorporated other checks to avoid confirmation bias. Additionally, I had to consider my values and their

possible effects on interactions with the participants. While I approached all interviews with an open mind, listening intentionally with the purpose of collecting data was more difficult than I expected. In reflection, I spent too much time focused on how my values influenced the interviews and not enough time recording the participants' nonverbal body language and other observations about their values. Despite the distractions and challenges, commitment and having a support system helped me achieve my goal of completing the study.

Meeting the expectations of an independent scholar and overcoming the challenges required commitment. It was easy to commit to the project during the preprospectus stage because I was passionate about the topic I chose and was eager to search for literature. After getting overwhelmed with literature, my motivation decreased because I was not retaining the information I was reading. I was doing too much reading and not enough writing. It was a frustrating experience completing the prospectus, additional coursework, and working on the proposal until I committed to the process of making daily routines and organization part of the doctoral study process. I overcame the frustration and loss of motivation by committing to the daily routines and accomplishing small tasks that advanced the process.

Having a support system was a significant factor in helping me overcome challenges and celebrate accomplishments during this program. My support system consisted of my spouse, my best friend, and two professional mentors, as well as a group called Team Dooley. My spouse and best friend frequently reminded me to enjoy life and care for myself. My mentors often reminded me to stay focused on my deadlines and

goals. Team Dooley comprised current and graduated scholars who were phenomenal in every capacity of support needed. I was fortunate to be surrounded by others going through a similar process on Team Dooley, which set the standard for success. Team Dooley encouraged me to keep writing even when difficult and inconvenient. Seeing the success of various scholars demonstrated that effort was the primary difference between scholars who graduated and those who did not. I could either raise or lower my standards. After completing this study, I can think more clearly because I feel physically, mentally, and academically stronger and faster. I lost 31 pounds and gained an invaluable amount of confidence, self-awareness, and knowledge.

#### Conclusion

Organizational leaders must find ways to mitigate employee turnover, given that it can negatively impact productivity and organizational sustainability. I concluded that frontline supervisors establishing and executing employee turnover mitigation strategies that include (a) communication, (b) supervisor support, (c) employee engagement, and (d) rewards and recognition, can bolster sustainability. Blau's (1964) SET and the literature provided in this study supported the four themes, which emerged in response to the research question on employee turnover. When frontline supervisors practice positive and supportive behaviors, employees reciprocate with positive behaviors such as increased engagement and commitment to their organizations. Frontline supervisors who establish and implement effective employee turnover mitigation strategies can help their organization improve productivity and increase sustainability.

#### References

- Abbas, M., & Ali, R. (2023). Transformational versus transactional leadership styles and project success: A meta-analytic review. *European Management Journal*, 41(1), 125–142. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2021.10.011">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2021.10.011</a>
- Abdalla, M., Oliveira, L., Azevedo, C., & Gonzalez, R. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa*, 19(1), 66–98.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578">https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578</a>
- Abedin, B. (2022). Managing the tension between opposing effects of explainability of artificial intelligence: A contingency theory perspective. *Internet Research*, 32(2), 425–453. https://doi.org/10.1108/INTR-05-2020-0300
- Abraham, M., Howard, J., & Trovas, S. (2023). How leadership development powers engagement & retention: 3 keys to unlock employee motivation, reduce turnover, and build a pipeline of future leaders [White Paper]. Center for Creative Leadership. <a href="https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED627440.pdf">https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED627440.pdf</a>
- Aggarwal, A., Jaisinghani, D., & Nobi, K. (2022). Effect of organizational justice and support on organizational commitment and employee turnover intentions: The mediating role of employee engagement. *International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences*, *14*(4), 525–554. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQSS-08-2021-0112
- Ahmad, R., Nawaz, M. R., Ishaq, M. I., Khan, M. M., & Ashraf, H. A. (2023). Social exchange theory: Systematic review and future directions. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1015921">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1015921</a>

- Akpom, C. C., & Ibegbulam, I. J. (2023). Relationship between rewards system and employee intention to leave: Preliminary survey of librarians in federal university libraries in Nigeria. *Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 49(3), Article 102712. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2023.102712">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2023.102712</a>
- Albert, Á., & Csizér, K. (2022). Investigating individual differences with qualitative research methods: Results of a meta-analysis of leading applied linguistics journals. *Studies in Second Language Learning & Teaching*, *12*(2), 303–335. https://doi.org/10.14746/ssllt.2022.12.2.6
- Al-Dalahmeh, M., Héder-Rima, M., & Dajnoki, K. (2020). The effect of talent management practices on employee turnover intention in the information and communication technologies (ICTs) sector: Case of Jordan. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 18(4), 59–71.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.18(4).2020.06">https://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.18(4).2020.06</a></a>
- Al Halbusi, H., Williams, K. A., Ramayah, T., Aldieri, L., & Vinci, C. P. (2021). Linking ethical leadership and ethical climate to employees' ethical behavior: The moderating role of person-organization fit. *Personnel Review*, *50*(1), 159–185. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-09-2019-0522
- Alshaabani, A., Hamza, K. A., & Rudnák, I. (2021). Impact of diversity management on employees' engagement: The role of organizational trust and job insecurity.

  \*Sustainability, 14(1), Article 420. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/su14010420">https://doi.org/10.3390/su14010420</a>
- Alterman, V., Bamberger, P. A., Wang, M., Koopmann, J., Belogolovsky, E., & Shi, J. (2021). Best not to know: Pay secrecy, employee voluntary turnover, and the

- conditioning effect of distributive justice. *Academy of Management Journal*, 64(2), 482–508. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2019.0231
- Arnout, B. A., Alshehri, A. S., Assiri, A. M., & Al-Qadimi, F. Y. (2020). Diagnostic criteria for postbullying disorder: A phenomenological research design of bullying victims. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 20(3), Article e2063. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2063">https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2063</a>
- Bader, B., Gielnik, M. M., & Bledow, R. (2023). How transformational leadership transforms followers' affect and work engagement. *European Journal of Work & Organizational Psychology*, *32*(3), 360–372. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2022.2161368
- Bajaba, S., Al-Judibi, Z., Basahal, A., & Alsabban, A. (2024). The broken trust: How exploitative leadership damages employee work passion. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, *I*(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.2024.2311256
- Banjarnahor, H., Hutabarat, W., Sibuea, A. M., & Situmorang, M. (2018). Job satisfaction as a mediator between directive and participatory leadership styles toward organizational commitment. *International Journal of Instruction*, 11(4), 869–888. https://doi.org/10.12973/iji.2018.11455a
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectations. Free Press.
- Batt, R., & Kahn, L. (2021). Data transparency and methods in quantitative and qualitative research: Letter from the editors. *ILR Review*, 74(5), 1079–1082. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/00197939211032932">https://doi.org/10.1177/00197939211032932</a>

Bell, M., & Sheridan, A. (2020). How organisational commitment influences nurses' intention to stay in nursing throughout their career. *International Journal of Nursing Studies Advances*, 2(2020), Article 100007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnsa.2020.100007

Bender, J. L., Cyr, A. B., Arbuckle, L., & Ferris, L. E. (2017). Ethics and privacy implications of using the internet and social media to recruit participants for health research: A privacy-by-design framework for online recruitment. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(4), Article e104.

https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.7029

- Bhangu, S., Provost, F., & Caduff, C. (2023). Introduction to qualitative research methods Part I. *Perspectives in Clinical Research*, *14*(1), 39–42. https://doi.org/10.4103/picr.picr\_253\_22
- Bhatti, M. A. (2022). Employees commitment among international organizations: Role of hpws, identity, engagement, and culture. *Croatian International Relations*\*Review\*, 28(91), 39–58. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2478/CIRR-2022-0063">https://doi.org/10.2478/CIRR-2022-0063</a>
- Blau, P. (1964). Exchange and power in social life. Wiley.
- Boddy, C. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research*, 19(4), 426–432. https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101.

https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales.

  \*Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 13(2), 201–216.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846
- Broman, K. W., & Woo, K. H. (2018). Data organization in spreadsheets. *The American Statistician*, 72(1), 2–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.2017.1375989
- Brunau, C. (2023, June 22). What is the average employee retention rate by industry?

  [2023 update]. DailyPay. <a href="https://www.dailypay.com/resource-center/blog/employee-retention-rate/">https://www.dailypay.com/resource-center/blog/employee-retention-rate/</a>
- Buchman, D., Cain, L., & Terrell, J. (2020). Model frontline customer service providers' perspectives of success factors: An exploratory study. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, 19(1), 102–130. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2019.1672245
- Bullard, E. (2023). *Purposive sampling*. Salem Press Encyclopedia.
- Busetto, L., Wick, W., & Gumbinger, C. (2020). How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research and Practice*, 2(14), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466-020-00059-z
- Buys, T., Casteleijn, D., Heyns, T., & Untiedt, H. (2022). A reflective lens on preparing and conducting semi-structured interviews with academic colleagues. *Qualitative Health Research*, 32(13), 2030–2039.

https://doi.org/10.1177/10497323221130832

- Campbell, S., Greenwood, M., Prior, S., Shearer, T., Walkem, K., Young, S., Bywaters, D., & Walker, K. (2020). Purposive sampling: Complex or simple? Research case examples. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 25(8), 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120927206
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 10(6), 807–815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Celikoglu, O., & Hamarat, M. (2022). Looking for ethnography in design research through three decades. *Design Journal*, 25(4), 556–576. https://doi.org/10.1080/14606925.2022.2081304
- Chaman, S., Zulfiqar, S., Shaheen, S., & Saleem, S. (2021). Leadership styles and employee knowledge sharing: Exploring the mediating role of introjected motivation. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(9), 1–18.

  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0257174
- Chan, S. C. H. (2019). Participative leadership and job satisfaction: The mediating role of work engagement and the moderating role of fun experienced at work. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 40(3), 319–333. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-06-2018-0215
- Chand, M., Ambardar, A., Gupta, M., & Kusum. (2022). Impact of reward, recognition, and welfare on employee engagement. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Systems*, 15(2), 79–89.

- Chatzopoulou, E., Manolopoulos, D., & Agapitou, V. (2022). Corporate social responsibility and employee outcomes: Interrelations of external and internal orientations with job satisfaction and organizational commitment. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 179(3), 795–817. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-021-04872-7
- Chenail, R. (2011). Interviewing the investigator: Strategies for addressing instrumentation and researcher bias concerns in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 16(1), 255–262. <a href="https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2011.1051">https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2011.1051</a>
- Chitac, I. (2022). The rationale for saturation in qualitative research: When practice informs theory. *Cross-Cultural Management Journal*, 24(1), 29–35.
- Choi, S. B., Tran, T. B. H., & Park, B. I. (2015). Inclusive leadership and work engagement: Mediating roles of affective organizational commitment and creativity. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 43(6), 931–944. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.2015.43.6.931
- Chowdhury, R., Uddin, M., Ahmad, A., Hoque, N., Mamun, A., & Uddin, N. (2022). The role of social support, affective commitment, and passion for work on turnover intentions: A study on women bankers. *Iranian Journal of Management Studies*, 15(4), 923–944.
- Chu, H., & Ke, Q. (2017). Research methods: What's in the name? *Library and Information Science Research*, 39(4), 284–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2017.11.001

- Chu, X., Ding, H., Zhang, L., & Li, Z. A. (2022). Strengths-based leadership and turnover intention: The roles of felt obligation for constructive change and job control. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*(2022), 1–10.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.786551">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.786551</a>
- Coleman, P. (2021). Validity and reliability within qualitative research in the caring sciences. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, *14*(3), 2041–2045.
- Cooper-Thomas, H., & Morrison, R. L. (2018). Give and take: Needed updates to social exchange theory. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 11(3), 493–498. https://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2018.101
- Costa, J., Pádua, M., & Moreira, A. C. (2023). Leadership styles and innovation management: What is the role of human capital? *Administrative Sciences*, *13*(2), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci13020047
- Cruz, M., Nunes, A., & Pinheiro, P. G. (2011). Fiedler's contingency theory: Practical application of the least preferred coworker (lpc) scale. *IUP Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 10(4), 7–26.
- Dalgic, A., & Akgunduz, Y. (2022). Relationships among organizational-based self-esteem, social exchange, and turnover intention of hotel employees: Impact of job dedication. *Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality & Tourism*, 23(1), 176–195. https://doi.org/10.1080/1528008X.2020.1864563
- Dawadi, S., Shrestha, S., & Giri, R. A. (2021). Mixed-methods research: A discussion on its types, challenges, and criticisms. *Online Submission*, 2(2), 25–36.

- DeLay, L., & Clark, K. R. (2020). The relationship between leadership styles and job satisfaction: A survey of MR technologists' perceptions. *Radiologic Technology*, 92(1), 12–22.
- Denieffe, S. (2020). Commentary: Purposive sampling: Complex or simple? Research case examples. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 25(8), 662–663. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120928156
- Desmarais, P., & Grenier, S. (2023). Fueling employees' commitment to organizational career: The role of autonomous motivation and supervisor's control. *Psychology of Leaders and Leadership*, 26(3–4), 200–217. https://doi.org/10.1037/mgr0000142
- Dessalegn, S., Alemu, Z., & Tensay, A. (2021). Understanding the leadership styleemployee commitment nexus in banking industry: The mediation role of trust in supervisor using structural equation modelling. *Turkish Online Journal of Qualitative Inquiry*, 12(6), 6973–6995.
- Dixon, B. (2019). Experiments in experience: Towards an alignment of research through design and John Dewey's pragmatism. *Design Issues*, 35(2), 5–16. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1162/desi\_a\_00531">https://doi.org/10.1162/desi\_a\_00531</a>
- Domínguez, L., Dolmans, D., de Grave, W., Donkers, J., Sanabria, A., & Stassen, L.
  (2022). Supervisors' transformational leadership style and residents' job crafting in surgical training: The residents' views. *International Journal of Medical Education*, 13(2022), 74–83. https://doi.org/10.5116/ijme.622d.e2f6

- Donkor, F., Appienti, W. A., & Achiaah, E. (2022). The impact of transformational leadership style on employee turnover intention in state-owned enterprises in Ghana. The mediating role of organisational commitment. *Public Organization Review*, 22(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11115-021-00509-5
- Drzewiecka, M., & Roczniewska, M. (2018). The relationship between perceived leadership styles and organisational constraints: An empirical study in Goleman's typology. *Revue Européenne de Psychologie Appliquée*, 68(4–5), 161–169. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erap.2018.08.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erap.2018.08.002</a>
- Duarte, A., & Silva, V. (2023). Satisfaction with internal communication and hospitality employees' turnover intention: Exploring the mediating role of organizational support and job satisfaction. *Administrative Sciences*, *13*(10), 1–18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci13100216">https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci13100216</a>
- Dwivedi, P., Chaturvedi, V., & Vashist, J. K. (2023). Innovation for organizational sustainability: The role of HR practices and theories. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 31(3), 759–776. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-07-2021-2859">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-07-2021-2859</a>
- Effat, S., & Tahereh, A. (2022). Qualitative research methodology in nursing:

  Constructivism and structuralism. *Journal of Qualitative Research in Health Sciences*, 11(1), 27–34. <a href="https://doi.org/10.22062/jqr.2022.91886">https://doi.org/10.22062/jqr.2022.91886</a>
- Ellis, P. (2020). Sampling in qualitative research (1). *Wounds UK*, *16*(3), 82–83. https://wounds-uk.com/journal-articles/sampling-qualitative-research-1/

- Ellyson, L. M., Gibson, J. H., Nichols, M., & Doerr, A. (2012, April 1). A study of Fiedler's contingency theory among military leaders [Conference Session]. Allied Academies International Conference, *Proceedings of the Academy of Strategic Management (ASM)*, 11(1), 7–11.
- Emerson, R. (1976). Social exchange theory. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 2(1), 335–362. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.so.02.080176.002003
- Fàbregues, S., Escalante-Barrios, E. L., Molina-Azorin, J. F., Hong, Q. N., & Verd, J. M. (2021). Taking a critical stance towards mixed methods research: A cross-disciplinary qualitative secondary analysis of researchers' views. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(7), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0252014
- Facca, D., Smith, M. J., Shelley, J., Lizotte, D., & Donelle, L. (2020). Exploring the ethical issues in research using digital data collection strategies with minors: A scoping review. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(8), 1–17.

  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0237875
- Farrugia, L. (2019). WASP (Write a scientific paper): The ongoing process of ethical decision-making in qualitative research: Ethical principles and their application to the research process. *Early Human Development*, *133*, 48–51.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.03.011">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.03.011</a>
- Faupel, S., & Helpap, S. (2021). Top management's communication and employees' commitment to change: The role of perceived procedural fairness and past change experience. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *57*(2), 204–232. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886320979646

- Fiedler, F. (1964). A contingency model of leadership effectiveness. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 1, 149–190. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60051-9">https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60051-9</a>
- Fletcher, L., Alfes, K., & Robinson, D. (2018). The relationship between perceived training and development and employee retention: The mediating role of work attitudes. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(18), 2701–2728. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1262888
- Fofana, F., Bazeley, P., & Regnault, A. (2020). Applying a mixed methods design to test saturation for qualitative data in health outcomes research. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(6), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234898
- Frangieh, M., & Rusu, D. (2021). The effect of the carrot and stick transactional leadership style in motivating employees in SMEs. *Review of International Comparative Management*, 22(2), 242–252.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.24818/RMCI.2021.2.242">https://doi.org/10.24818/RMCI.2021.2.242</a>
- Frega, R. (2021). Employee involvement and workplace democracy. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 31(3), 360–385. https://doi.org/10.1017/beq.2020.30
- Galli, T., Chiclana, F., & Siewe, F. (2021). Quality properties of execution tracing, an empirical study. *Applied System Innovation*, *4*(20), 1–35. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/asi4010020">https://doi.org/10.3390/asi4010020</a>
- Garsaa, A., & Paulet, E. (2022). ESG disclosure and employee turnover. New evidence from listed European companies. *Industrial Relations / Relations Industrielles*, 77(4), 1–22. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7202/1097695ar">https://doi.org/10.7202/1097695ar</a>

- Guan, X., & Frenkel, S. J. (2019). Explaining supervisor–subordinate guanxi and subordinate performance through a conservation of resources lens. *Human Relations*, 72(11), 1752–1775. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726718813718
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(5), 1–17.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076</a>
- Hammon, S. D., Gillis, W. E., & Icenogle, M. L. (2023). From social responsibility to employee engagement: Evidence from the public sector. *Journal of Management & Governance*, 27(4), 1223–1247. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10997-022-09648-3
- Haridas, J., Ture, R., & Nayanpally, A. (2022). Organizational career management and turnover intentions: Mediating role of trust in management. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 46(1), 257–275. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-09-2020-0136">https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-09-2020-0136</a>
- Harter, J. (2023, January 25). *U.S. employee engagement needs a rebound in 2023*.

  Gallup. <a href="https://www.gallup.com/workplace/468233/employee-engagement-needs-rebound-2023.aspx">https://www.gallup.com/workplace/468233/employee-engagement-needs-rebound-2023.aspx</a>
- He, J., & Zhou, M. (2023). How overqualification, work alienation, and employment relationship atmosphere affect employees' turnover intention. *Social Behavior & Personality: An International Journal*, 51(6), 1–9.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.12368">https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.12368</a>

- Head, J., Rizo, J., Brown, D., Jr., Dutcher, H., & McMullen, L. (2023). Coverage and treatment of qualitative inquiry in general research methods textbooks.

  \*\*Qualitative Psychology, 10(1), 1–15. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000249">https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000249</a>
- Hendren, K., Newcomer, K., Pandey, S., Smith, M., & Sumner, N. (2023). How qualitative research methods can be leveraged to strengthen mixed methods research in public policy and public administration? *Public Administration*\*Review, 83(3), 468–485. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13528
- Herr, R., Birmingham, W., Harreveld, F., Vianen, A., Fischer, J., & Bosch, J. (2022). The relationship between ambivalence towards supervisor's behavior and employee's mental health. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1), 1–9. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-13533-2">https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-13533-2</a>
- Holter, M. T. (2022). The ethical and methodological dilemma of questioning the truthfulness of a participant's story: Using "circulating reference" to enhance the validity of qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 21(2022), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069221117985
- Homans, G. (1958). Social behavior as exchange. *American Journal of Sociology*, 63(6), 597–606. https://doi.org/10.1086/222355
- Hornickel, J. (2019). Retain employees and lower turnover costs: Less than 30 percent of U.S. employees say they are loyal to their company according to the ipsos loyalty study. *Training*, 56(6), 14.

- Hou, R., & Zhang, C. (2021). Reducing social loafing in online brand communities:

  Insights from social exchange theory. *Social Behavior & Personality: An*International Journal, 49(5), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.10190
- House, J. (2018). Authentic vs elicited data and qualitative vs quantitative research methods in pragmatics: Overcoming two non-fruitful dichotomies. *System*, 75(2018), 4–12. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.014">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.014</a>
- House, J., & Mitchell, T. R. (1975). *Path-goal theory of leadership*. University of Washington Department of Psychology.
- Huang, H. C., Cheng, T. C. E., Huang, W. F., & Teng, C. I. (2018). Impact of online gamers' personality traits on interdependence, network convergence, and continuance intention: Perspective of social exchange theory. *International Journal of Information Management*, 38(1), 232–242.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2017.08.009">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2017.08.009</a>
- Huang, S. Y. B., Li, M.-W., & Chang, T.-W. (2021). Transformational leadership, ethical leadership, and participative leadership in predicting counterproductive work behaviors: Evidence from financial technology firms. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12(2021), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.658727
- Huertas-Valdivia, I., Llorens-Montes, F. J., & Ruiz-Moreno, A. (2018). Achieving engagement among hospitality employees: A serial mediation model.
  International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 30(1), 217–241.
  <a href="https://doi:10.1108/IJCHM-09-2016-0538">https://doi:10.1108/IJCHM-09-2016-0538</a>

- Hultman, J. (2019). The high cost of employee turnover: It pays to keep staff happy and well-compensated. *Podiatry Management*, *38*(9), 168–170.
- Husband, G. (2020). Ethical data collection and recognizing the impact of semistructured interviews on research respondents. *Education Sciences*, 10(206), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10080206
- Huynh, J. (2021). Media review: Qualitative and mixed methods data analysis using

  Dedoose: A practical approach for research across the social sciences. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 15(2), 284–286.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689820977627">https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689820977627</a>
- Ilyas, S., Abid, G., & Ashfaq, F. (2020). Ethical leadership in sustainable organizations:

  The moderating role of general self-efficacy and the mediating role of organizational trust. *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, 22(4), 195–204.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2020.03.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2020.03.003</a>
- Itzkovich, Y., Heilbrunn, S., & Aleksic, A. (2020). Full range indeed? The forgotten dark side of leadership. *Journal of Management Development*, *39*(7–8), 851–868. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-09-2019-0401
- Jan, B., & Maulida, M. (2022). The role of leaders' motivation, entrepreneurial leadership, and organisational agility in social enterprise sustainability. *Southeast Asian Journal of Management*, 16(2), 97–118.

  https://doi.org/10.21002/seam.v16i2.1167
- Jankelová, N., Joniaková, Z., & Procházková, K. (2022). The way to business competitiveness: The importance of diversity management and teamwork climate

- in stabilizing of employees. *Journal of Business Economics & Management*, 23(3), 606–625. https://doi.org/10.3846/jbem.2022.16199
- Johnson, I. R., & Rohde, D. M. (2022). Job stress, emotional exhaustion, job satisfaction, and turnover intentions: The role of servant leadership. *North American Journal of Psychology*, 24(3), 543–560.
- Josephson, A., & Smale, M. (2020). What do you mean by "informed consent"? Ethics in economic development research. *Applied Economic Perspectives & Policy*, 1, 1–36. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/aepp.13112">https://doi.org/10.1002/aepp.13112</a>
- Jun, K., Hu, Z., & Sun, Y. (2023). Impact of authentic leadership on employee turnover intention: Perceived supervisor support as mediator and organizational identification as moderator. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14(2023), 1–15.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1009639">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1009639</a>
- Kafetzopoulos, D., & Gotzamani, K. (2022). The effect of talent management and leadership styles on firms' sustainable performance. *European Business Review*, 34(6), 837–857. https://doi.org/10.1108/EBR-07-2021-0148
- Kaur, K., & Randhawa, G. (2021a). Exploring the influence of supportive supervisors on organisational citizenship behaviours: Linking theory to practice. *IIMB* Management Review, 33(2), 156–165. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iimb.2021.03.012">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iimb.2021.03.012</a>
- Kaur, R., & Randhawa, G. (2021b). Supportive supervisor to curtail turnover intentions:
   Do employee engagement and work–life balance play any role? *Evidence-Based HRM: A Global Forum for Empirical Scholarship*, 9(3), 241–257.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/EBHRM-12-2019-0118">https://doi.org/10.1108/EBHRM-12-2019-0118</a>

- Kemp, C., van Herwerden, L., Molloy, E., Kleve, S., Brimblecombe, J., Reidlinger, D., & Palermo, C. (2021). How do students offer value to organisations through work integrated learning? A qualitative study using Social Exchange Theory. *Advances in Health Sciences Education*, 26(3), 1075–1093. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-021-10038-x">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-021-10038-x</a>
- Kim, K. H., & Chon, M. (2022). When work and life boundaries are blurred: The effect of after-hours work communication through communication technology on employee outcomes. *Journal of Communication Management*, 26(4), 386–400. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCOM-06-2022-0073
- Kim, M., & Beehr, T. A. (2020). Empowering leadership: Leading people to be present through affective organizational commitment? *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 31(16), 2017–2044. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2018.1424017
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 120–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Krishna, C., Tyagi, S., & Jakhar, R. (2022). A study on impact of transformational leadership on employee turnover and job satisfaction: A literature review.

  \*\*ANWESH: International Journal of Management & Information Technology, 7(2), 1–9.

- Kumar, S. (2022). The impact of talent management practices on employee turnover and retention intentions. *Global Business and Organizational Excellence*, 41(2), 21–34. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/joe.22130">https://doi.org/10.1002/joe.22130</a>
- Langtree, T., Birks, M., & Biedermann, N. (2019). Separating "fact" from fiction:

  Strategies to improve rigour in historical research. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 20(2), 1–17. <a href="https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.2.3196">https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.2.3196</a>
- Larsson, M., Holmberg, R., & Kempster, S. (2020). 'It's the organization that is wrong': Exploring disengagement from organizations through leadership development.

  \*Leadership\*, 16(2), 141–162. https://doi.org/10.1177/1742715019879306
- Ledger, L., Worsley, P., Hope, J., & Schoonhoven, L. (2023). Patient perceptions and understanding of pressure ulcer risk in the community: Empirical research qualitative. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *1*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.15637
- Liu, Y. (2022). Paradigmatic compatibility matters: A critical review of qualitative-quantitative debate in mixed methods research. *SAGE Open*, *12*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440221079922
- Lumbantoruan, S., Kurniawan, L., Christi, C., & Sihombing, J. (2020). Impact of transactional leadership style on employee job satisfaction. *Tazkiya*, 8(1), 56–63. <a href="https://doi.org/10.15408/tazkiya.v8i1.14664">https://doi.org/10.15408/tazkiya.v8i1.14664</a>
- Ly, B. (2023). Inclusion leadership and employee work engagement: The role of organizational commitment in Cambodian public organization. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 6(2023), 1–9. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2023.06.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2023.06.003</a>

- Madill, A., & Sullivan, P. (2018). Mirrors, portraits, and member checking: Managing difficult moments of knowledge exchange in the social sciences. *Qualitative Psychology*, *5*(3), 321–339. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000089">https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000089</a>
- Majczyk, J. (2022). Leadership development programs in the context of diversity management: Evidence from Poland. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, *35*(3), 696–709. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-09-2021-0274
- Mampuru, M., Mokoena, B., & Isabirye, A. (2024). Training and development impact on job satisfaction, loyalty and retention among academics. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, 22(0), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v22i0.2420
- Martini, M., Gerosa, T., & Cavenago, D. (2023). How does employee development affect turnover intention? Exploring alternative relationships. *International Journal of Training and Development*, 27(1), 39–56. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/ijtd.12282">https://doi.org/10.1111/ijtd.12282</a>
- Masood, S., Siddiqui, G., Lodhi, H., & Shahbaz, S. (2020). Effect of leadership styles on organizational citizenship behavior and employee turnover intention. *Journal of Accounting and Finance in Emerging Economies*, 6(2), 487–495.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.26710/jafee.v6i2.1200">https://doi.org/10.26710/jafee.v6i2.1200</a>
- Mattimoe, R., Hayden, M. T., Murphy, B., & Ballantine, J. (2021). Approaches to analysis of qualitative research data: A reflection on the manual and technological approaches. *Accounting, Finance & Governance Review*, 27(1), 1–14. <a href="https://doi.org/10.52399/001c.22026">https://doi.org/10.52399/001c.22026</a>

- Maurer, R. (2021, March). *Turnover 'tsunami' expected once pandemic ends*.

  <a href="https://www.shrm.org/resourcesandtools/hr-topics/talent-acquisition/pages/turnover-tsunami-expected-once-pandemic-ends.aspx">https://www.shrm.org/resourcesandtools/hr-topics/talent-acquisition/pages/turnover-tsunami-expected-once-pandemic-ends.aspx</a>
- Mayernik, S. (2019). Metadata accounts: Achieving data evidence in scientific research.

  Social Studies of Science, 49(5), 732–757.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0306312719863494
- McDermid, D. (2023). Pragmatism. *The Internet Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. https://iep.utm.edu/pragmati/
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002–1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149
- McKim, A., & Goodwin, C. (2021). Emergent opportunities in complexity, leadership, and sustainability. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, *15*(3), 80–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/jls.21778
- McLeod, J., Jenkin, A., Walters, G., & Irving, R. (2021). The role and performance of supporter directors: A social exchange theory perspective. *Sport Management Review*, 24(5), 862–885. https://doi.org/10.1080/14413523.2021.1880744
- Meduri, Y., & Jindal, P. (2021). Manager's role in employee turnover intentions: A special study during COVID-19. *IUP Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 20(4), 98–122.
- Mehak, S. S., & Batcha, H. M. (2024). Exploring the antecedents of motivation on employee performance in the leather industry in South India. *Iranian Journal of*

- *Management Studies*, *17*(1), 311–329. https://doi.org/10.22059/ijms.2023.352856.675551
- Meira, J., & Hancer, M. (2021). Using the social exchange theory to explore the employee-organization relationship in the hospitality industry. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 33(2), 670–692. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-06-2020-0538">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-06-2020-0538</a>
- Men, L. R., Qin, Y. S., Mitson, R., & Thelen, P. (2023). Engaging employees via an inclusive climate: The role of organizational diversity communication and cultural intelligence. *Journal of Public Relations Research*, 35(5/6), 450–471.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/1062726X.2023.2222859">https://doi.org/10.1080/1062726X.2023.2222859</a>
- Mikkelson, A. C., Sloan, D., & Hesse, C. (2019). Relational communication messages and leadership styles in supervisor/employee relationships. *International Journal of Business Communication*, 56(4), 586–604.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488416687267">https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488416687267</a>
- Mirick, R. G., & Wladkowski, S. P. (2019). Skype in qualitative interviews: Participant and researcher perspectives. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(12), 3061–3072. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3632
- Moilanen, S., & Ikäheimo, S. (2019). Managerial intentions for and employee perceptions of group-based incentives: Social exchange theory-based interpretations. *Journal of Accounting & Organizational Change*, 15(4), 605–625. https://doi.org/10.1108/JAOC-04-2019-0043

- Moon, K., Brewer, T. D., Januchowski-Hartley, S. R., Adams, V. M., & Blackman, D. A. (2016). A guideline to improve qualitative social science publishing in ecology and conservation journals. *Ecology & Society*, 21(3), 133–152. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-08663-210317
- Morelli, J. (2022). Enabling change requires organizational self-awareness. *Healthcare Financial Management*, 76(1), 36–37.
- Morse, J. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(9), 1212–1222. https://doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Motulsky, S. L. (2021). Is member checking the gold standard of quality in qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 389–406.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215">https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215</a>
- Mozersky, J., Parsons, M., Walsh, H., Baldwin, K., McIntosh, T., & DuBois, J. (2020).

  Research participant views regarding qualitative data sharing. *Ethics & Human Research*, 42(2), 13–27. https://doi.org/10.1002/eahr.500044
- Muhammad, N., Ihsan, A., & Hayat, K. (2021). Effect of workload and job stress on employee turnover intention: A case study of higher education sector of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. *Journal of Business & Tourism*, 7(1), 51–64. <a href="https://doi.org/10.34260/jbt.v7i1.223">https://doi.org/10.34260/jbt.v7i1.223</a>
- Muldoon, J., Bendickson, J. S., & Mayherne, C. F. (2019). Micro-foundations of resources, capabilities, and firm performance: A look at LMX. *Small Business*

*Institute Journal*, 15(1), 49–68.

## https://www.sbij.org/index.php/SBIJ/article/view/305

Ng, T. W. H., Yim, F. H. K., Chen, H., & Zou, Y. (2022). Employer-sponsored career development practices and employee performance and turnover: A meta-analysis.

\*\*Journal of Management\*, 9(2022), 1–37.\*\*

https://doi.org/10.1177/01492063221125143

- Ngozwana, N. (2018). Ethical dilemmas in qualitative research methodology:

  Researcher's reflections. *International Journal of Educational Methodology*, 4(1), 19–28.
- Odero, J. (2023). Transactional leadership style and strategic plan implementation: The moderating role of organizational culture. *Business Excellence and Management*, 13(1), 21–40. https://doi.org/10.24818/beman/2023.13.1-02
- Oh, J., & Chhinzer, N. (2021). Is turnover contagious? The impact of transformational leadership and collective turnover on employee turnover decisions. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 42(7), 1089–1103. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-12-2020-0548
- Ohlsson, J. (2023). Knowledge transfer as transformative dialogue: A pedagogical view on learning and meta-knowledge transfer in a leadership development program.

  \*\*Journal of Organizational Change Management\*, 36(8), 117–128.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-03-2023-0100

- Oliveira, L. B., & Najnudel, P. S. (2023). The influence of abusive supervision on employee engagement, stress and turnover intention. *Revista de Gestão*, 30(1), 78–91. https://doi.org/10.1108/REGE-02-2021-0025
- Oluwafemi, A., Xulu, S., Dlamini, N., Luthuli, M., Mhlongo, T., Herbst, C., Shahmanesh, M., & Seeley, J. (2021). Transcription as a key phase of data analysis in qualitative research: Experience from KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Field Methods*, *33*(4), 417–423. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X21989482
- Oruh, E., Mordi, C., Ajonbadi, A., Mojeed-Sanni, B., Nwagbara, U., & Rahman, M. (2020). Investigating the relationship between managerialist employment relations and employee turnover intention: The case of Nigeria. *Employee Relations: The International Journal*, 42(1), 52–74. https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-08-2018-0226
- Othman, Z., & Hamid, F. (2018). Dealing with (un)expected ethical dilemma: Experience from the field. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(4), 733–741. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3050
- Ouyang, C., Zhu, Y., & Guo, M. (2020). Effect of empowering leadership on the turnover intention of industrial workers. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 48(8), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.9124
- Panaccio, A., Tang, W.-G., & Vandenberghe, C. (2023). Agreeable supervisors promoting the organization--Implications for employee commitment and retention. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 22(3), 146–157. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000318

- Patil, T. (2022). A study on employee retention strategies at spareage sealing solutions, thane. *ANWESH: International Journal of Management & Information Technology*, 7(2), 52–56.
- Pattnaik, A. (2018). Social exchange theory: Revisiting the scaffolding of psychological contract. *The Indian Journal of Management*, 11(1), 9–12.
- Paxton, A. (2020). The Belmont Report in the age of big data: Ethics at the intersection of psychological science and data science. In S. E. Woo, L. Tay, & R. W. Proctor (Eds.), *Big data in psychological research* (pp. 347–372). American Psychological Association. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/0000193-016">https://doi.org/10.1037/0000193-016</a>
- Pepple, D. G., Akinsowon, P., & Oyelere, M. (2023). Employee commitment and turnover intention: Perspectives from the Nigerian public sector. *Public Organization Review*, 23(2), 739–757. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11115-021">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11115-021</a>
  -00577-7
- Popp, M., & Hadwich, K. (2018). Examining the effects of employees' behaviour by transferring a leadership contingency theory to the service context. *Journal of Service Management Research (SMR)*, 2(3), 44–59. https://doi.org/10.15358/2511-8676-2018-3-44
- Pu, B., Sang, W., Ji, S., Hu, J., & Phau, I. (2024). The effect of customer incivility on employees' turnover intention in hospitality industry: A chain mediating effect of emotional exhaustion and job satisfaction. *International Journal of Hospitality*Management, 118(2024), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2023.103665

- Quratulain, S., Khan, A. K., Crawshaw, J. R., Arain, G. A., & Hameed, I. (2018). A study of employee affective organizational commitment and retention in Pakistan: The roles of psychological contract breach and norms of reciprocity. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(17), 2552–2579. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1254099
- Raithel, K., van Knippenberg, D., & Stam, D. (2021). Team leadership and team cultural diversity: The moderating effects of leader cultural background and leader team tenure. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 28(3), 261–272. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/15480518211010763">https://doi.org/10.1177/15480518211010763</a>
- Ramanadhan, S., Revette, A., Lee, R., & Aveling, E. (2021). Pragmatic approaches to analyzing qualitative data for implementation science: An introduction. *Implementation Science Communications*, 70(2), 2–10.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s43058-021-00174-1">https://doi.org/10.1186/s43058-021-00174-1</a>
- Rhodes, J., & Brook, C. (2021). Reflective journaling and WhatsApping as part of a management degree apprentice's action learning practice. *Action Learning:*\*Research and Practice, 18(1), 75–83.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/14767333.2021.1869188
- Richter, A., Vander Elst, T., & De Witte, H. (2020). Job insecurity and subsequent actual turnover: Rumination as a valid explanation? *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11(2020), 1–12. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00712">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00712</a>

- Ritz, A., & Alfes, K. (2018). Multicultural public administration: Effects of language diversity and dissimilarity on public employees' attachment to employment. *Public Administration*, 96(1), 84–103. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/padm.12366">https://doi.org/10.1111/padm.12366</a>
- Roa, T., & Biller-Andorno, N. (2022). Financial incentives for participants in health research: When are they ethical? *Swiss Medical Weekly*, *152*(1112), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.4414/SMW.2022.w30166
- Roberts, K., Dowell, A., & Nie, J. (2019). Attempting rigour and replicability in thematic analysis of qualitative research data: A case study of codebook development.

  \*\*BMC Medical Research Methodology\*, 19(1), 1–8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0707-y">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0707-y</a>
- Robertson, M. B. (2021). Hindsight is 2020: Identifying missed leadership opportunities to reduce employee turnover intention amid the COVID-19 shutdown. *Strategic HR Review*, 20(6), 215–220. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-09-2021-0045
- Roch, S. G., Shannon, C. E., Martin, J. J., Swiderski, D., Agosta, J. P., & Shanock, L. R. (2019). Role of employee felt obligation and endorsement of the just world hypothesis: A social exchange theory investigation in an organizational justice context. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 49(4), 213–225. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12578">https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12578</a>
- Romao, S., Ribeiro, N., Gomes, D. R., & Singh, S. (2022). The impact of leaders' coaching skills on employees' happiness and turnover intention. *Administrative Sciences*, 12(3), 1–15. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci12030084">https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci12030084</a>

- Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: Toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *51*(4), 432–451. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042
- Sandvik, B. M., & McCormack, B. (2018). Being person-centered in qualitative interviews: Reflections on a process. *International Practice Development Journal*, 8(2), 1–8. https://doi:10.19043/ipdj.82.008
- Saracho, O. (2017). Writing and publishing qualitative studies in early childhood education. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 45(1), 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-016-0794-x
- Sarfo, J., Timothy, P., Newton, I., William, T., & Paul, O. (2021). Qualitative research designs, sample size and saturation: Is enough always enough? *Journal of Advocacy, Research & Education* 8(3), 60–65.

  <a href="https://doi:10.13187/jare.2021.3.60">https://doi:10.13187/jare.2021.3.60</a></a>
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2016). Research methods for business students (7th ed.). Pearson Education Limited
- Saverio, E. K., Githui, D. M., & Ngure, S. (2018). Determinants of employee turnover in public universities in Nyeri County. *Advances in Social Sciences Research Journal*, 5(3), 209–219. <a href="https://doi:10.14738/assrj.53.4286">https://doi:10.14738/assrj.53.4286</a>
- Schoonenboom, J. (2023). The fundamental difference between qualitative and quantitative data in mixed methods research. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 24(1), 1–24. <a href="https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-24.1.3986">https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-24.1.3986</a>

- Sehanovic, L., Hadziahmetovic, N., & Kurtcehajic, A. (2022). Impact of leadership styles on employee behavior in healthcare institutions during the COVID-19. *Human Research in Rehabilitation*, 12(2), 171–183. https://doi.org/10.21554/hrr.092209
- Sekhar, C., & Patwardhan, M. (2023). Flexible working arrangement and job performance: The mediating role of supervisor support. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 72(5), 1221–1238.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-07-2020-0396">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-07-2020-0396</a>
- Shah, M. (2020). Integrating HRM and leadership: A proposed framework for effective leadership in contemporary organization. *Journal of Business & Tourism*, 6(2), 49–60. <a href="https://doi.org/10.34260/jbt.v6i2.153">https://doi.org/10.34260/jbt.v6i2.153</a>
- Sheard, L. (2022). Telling a story or reporting the facts? Interpretation and description in the qualitative analysis of applied health research data: A documentary analysis of peer review reports. *SSM: Qualitative Research in Health*, 2(2022), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmqr.2022.100166
- Shin, I., & Jeung, C.-W. (2019). Uncovering the turnover intention of proactive employees: The mediating role of work engagement and the moderated mediating role of job autonomy. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16050843
- Shuck, B., Kim, W., & Chai, D. S. (2021). The chicken and egg conundrum: Job satisfaction or employee engagement and implications for human resources. *New Horizons in Adult Education & Human Resource Development*, *33*(1), 4–24. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/nha3.20302">https://doi.org/10.1002/nha3.20302</a>

- Siddiqui, W., & Sharp, R. (2021). Beyond the Belmont Report. *American Journal of Bioethics*, 21(10), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2021.1972649
- Simbula, S., Margheritti, S., & Avanzi, L. (2023). Building work engagement in organizations: A longitudinal study combining social exchange and social identity theories. *Behavioral Sciences*, *13*(2), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs13020083
- Singh, K., Abraham, R., Yadav, J., Agrawal, A. K., & Kolar, P. (2023). Linking CSR and organizational performance: The intervening role of sustainability risk management and organizational reputation. *Social Responsibility Journal*, 19(10), 1830–1851. https://doi.org/10.1108/SRJ-07-2022-0309
- Skopak, A., & Hadzaihmetovic, N. (2022). The impact of transformational and transactional leadership style on employee job satisfaction. *International Journal of Business & Administrative Studies*, 8(3), 113–126.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.20469/ijbas.8.10001-3">https://doi.org/10.20469/ijbas.8.10001-3</a>
- Smith, J., Bekker, H., & Cheater, F. (2011). Theoretical versus pragmatic design in qualitative research. *Nurse Researcher*, *18*(2), 39–51. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2011.01.18.2.39.c8283
- Sorn, M. K., Fienena, A. R., Ali, Y., Rafay, M., & Fu, G. (2023). The effectiveness of compensation in maintaining employee retention. *Open Access Library Journal*, 10(7), 1–14. 10.4236/oalib.1110394
- Spiers, J., Janice, M., Morse, J., Olson, K., Mayan, M., & Barrett, M. (2018).

  Reflection/commentary on a past article: "Verification strategies for establishing

- reliability and validity in qualitative research." *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918788237
- Spoor, J. R., Flower, R. L., Bury, S. M., & Hedley, D. (2022). Employee engagement and commitment to two Australian autism employment programs: associations with workload and perceived supervisor support. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 41(3), 508–524. https://doi.org/10.1108/EDI-05-2020-0132
- Strik, N. P., Hamstra, M. R. W., & Segers, M. S. R. (2021). Antecedents of knowledge withholding: A systematic review & integrative framework. *Group & Organization Management*, 46(2), 223–251.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601121994379

- Swayze, S., & Calvin, J. R. (2016). The Johns Hopkins University leadership development program for multicultural and multinational leaders: A graduate certificate program focused on developing cross-culturally competent leaders.

  \*\*Organization Development Journal, 34(1), 109–118.\*\*
- Syaharudin, M., Titisari, P., Slamin, & Susanto, A. B. (2022). The effect of transactional leadership, compensation, motivation and work experience through job in security on the performance of employees. *Quality-Access to Success*, 23(188), 256–262. https://doi.org/10.47750/QAS/23.188.34
- Taguchi, N. (2018). Description and explanation of pragmatic development: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods research. System, 75(2018), 23–32. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.010">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.010</a>

- Teoh, K. R., Coyne, I., Devonish, D., Leather, P., & Zarola, A. (2016). The interaction between supportive and unsupportive manager behaviors on employee work attitudes. *Personnel Review*, 45(6), 1386–1402. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-05-2015-0136">https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-05-2015-0136</a>
- Tenakwah, E. S. (2021). What do employees want? Halting record-setting turnovers globally. *Strategic HR Review*, 20(6), 206–210. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-08-2021-0040">https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-08-2021-0040</a>
- Thanh, N., & Quang, N. (2022). Transformational, transactional, laissez-faire leadership styles and employee engagement: Evidence from Vietnam's public sector. *SAGE Open*, 12(2), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440221094606
- Thapa, A., & Parimoo, D. (2022). Transactional leadership style and organizational performance: The moderating role of emotional intelligence. *Parikalpana: KIIT Journal of Management*, 18(1), 53–70. <a href="https://doi.org/10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2022/v18/i1/212345">https://doi.org/10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2022/v18/i1/212345</a>
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thomas, D. R. (2017). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful in qualitative research?. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *14*(1), 23–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435
- Ting, L., & Ahn, J. (2023). The impact of economic exchange, social exchange, mutual interest, and self-interest on franchisees' behaviour. *Total Quality Management* &

- Business Excellence, 34(11/12), 1579–1597. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2023.2190880
- Tomaszewski, L. E., Zarestky, J., & Gonzalez, E. (2020). Planning qualitative research:

  Design and decision making for new researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920967174
- Tsen, M., Gu, M., Tan, C., & Goh, S. (2022). Does flexible work arrangements decrease or increase turnover intention? A comparison between the social exchange theory and border theory. *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, 42(11–12), 962–983. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSSP-08-2021-0196
- Tuval-Mashiach, R. (2021). Is replication relevant for qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 365–377. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000217">https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000217</a>
- Tyler, K. (2021). The turnover tsunami. HR Magazine, 66(2), 26–31.
- Ullah, Z., Álvarez-Otero, S., Ali Sulaiman, M., Sial, M., Ahmad, N., Scholz, M., & Omhand, K. (2021). Achieving organizational social sustainability through electronic performance appraisal systems: The moderating influence of transformational leadership. Sustainability, 13(5611), 5611.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/su13105611
- Ullah, Z., & Khan, M. Z. (2019). How does the leadership style play out in job-related outcomes? Evidence from nursing profession in Pakistan. *Putaj Humanities & Social Sciences*, 26(2), 113–135.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office for Human Research Protections (1979, April 18). *The Belmont Report*: Ethical principles and guidelines for the

- protection of human subjects of research. <a href="https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/read-the-belmont-report/index.html">https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/read-the-belmont-report/index.html</a>
- Usman, M., Ghani, U., Cheng, J., Farid, T., & Iqbal, S. (2021). Does participative leadership matters in employees' outcomes during COVID-19? Role of leader behavioral integrity. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12(2021), 1–12. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.646442">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.646442</a>
- Vercic, A. T., Galic, Z., & Znidar, K. (2023). The relationship of internal communication satisfaction with employee engagement and employer attractiveness: Testing the joint mediating effect of the social exchange quality indicators. *International Journal of Business Communication*, 60(4), 1313–1340.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/23294884211053839
- Vongswasdi, P., Leroy, H., Claeys, J., Anisman-Razin, M., & van Dierendonck, D. (2023). Beyond developing leaders: Toward a multinarrative understanding of the value of leadership development programs. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 00(0), 1–33. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2021.0231">https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2021.0231</a>
- Vora, D., Lee, M., Fitzsimmons, S. R., Pekerti, A. A., Lakshman, C., & Raheem, S. (2019). Multiculturalism within individuals: A review, critique, and agenda for future research. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 50(4), 499–524. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1057/s41267-018-0191-3">https://doi.org/10.1057/s41267-018-0191-3</a>
- Walden University. (2016). *Doctoral study rubric and research handbook*. http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/researchcenter/osra/dba

- Wallwey, C., & Kajfez, R. (2023). Quantitative research artifacts as qualitative data collection techniques in a mixed methods research study. *Methods in Psychology*, 8(1), 100–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metip.2023.100115
- Watts, F. M., & Finkenstaedt-Quinn, S. A. (2021). The current state of methods for establishing reliability in qualitative chemistry education research articles.

  \*Chemistry Education Research and Practice\*, 22(3), 565–578.

  https://doi.org/10.1039/d1rp00007a
- Wei, C. L., Chang, Y. C., Wang, W. X., Chou, H. M., & Chen, K. J. (2019, December 15–18). Factors that influence sharing behaviors in sharing economy based on the theory of social capital and social exchange: Example of Taiwan-based USPACE [Conference Session]. 2019 IEEE International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Engineering Management (IEEM), Macao, China. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1109/IEEM44572.2019.8978908">https://doi.org/10.1109/IEEM44572.2019.8978908</a>
- Weller, S. C., Vickers, B., Bernard, H. R., Blackburn, A. M., Borgatti, S., Gravelee, C.
  C., & Johnson, J. C. (2018). Open-ended interview questions and saturation. *PloS One*, 13(6), 1–18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.137/journal.pone.0198606">https://doi.org/10.137/journal.pone.0198606</a>
- Wibowo, A., & Paramita, W. (2022). Resilience and turnover intention: The role of mindful leadership, empathetic leadership, and self-regulation. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 29(3), 325–341. https://doi.org/10.1177/15480518211068735

- Widyatama, M., Meireza, H., & Tamara, D. (2021). The influence of leadership style with job satisfaction as mediating variable on employee performance. *Turkish Online Journal of Qualitative Inquiry*, 12(6), 988–999.
- Wolper, J. (2016). Tackling leadership development. *TD: Talent Development*, 70(12), 64–65.
- Wood, A., Kleinbaum, A. M., & Wheatley, T. (2023). Cultural diversity broadens social networks. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *124*(1), 109–122. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000395
- Xu, Q., Zhao, Y., Xi, M., & Li, F. (2020). Abusive supervision, high-performance work systems, and subordinate silence. *Personnel Review*, 49(8), 1637–1653. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-01-2019-0029
- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multiracial populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2700–2713. <a href="https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss11/7">https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss11/7</a>
- Yildiz, R. O., & Esmer, S. (2023). Talent management strategies and functions: A systematic review. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 55(1), 93–111.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-01-2022-0007">https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-01-2022-0007</a>
- Yin, R. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and method (6th ed.).

  SAGE Publishing.
- Yin, W., Liao, S., Ouyang, X., Akhtar, M. N., & Zhou, X. (2023). I speak when boss back up my family: Testing the moderated mediation model of family supportive

- supervisor behavior and employee voice. *Current Psychology*, 42(11), 9017–9027. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-02215-3
- Yucel, I. (2021). Transformational leadership and turnover intentions: The mediating role of employee performance during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Administrative*Sciences, 11(81), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci11030081
- Yucel, I., Sirin, M. S., & Bas, M. (2023). The mediating effect of work engagement on the relationship between work–family conflict and turnover intention and moderated mediating role of supervisor support during global pandemic. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 72(3), 577– 598. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-07-2020-0361">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-07-2020-0361</a>
- Yue, C. A., Thelen, P. D., & Walden, J. (2023). How empathetic leadership communication mitigates employees' turnover intention during COVID-19-related organizational change. *Management Decision*, 61(5), 1413–1433. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-01-2022-0011
- Zarei, F., Gandica, Y., & Rocha, L. E. (2024). Bursts of communication increase opinion diversity in the temporal deffuant model. *Scientific Reports*, *14*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-024-52458-w
- Zhang, Y., Sun, J., Shaffer, M. A., & Lin, C. (2022). High commitment work systems and employee well-being: The roles of workplace friendship and task interdependence. *Human Resource Management*, 61(4), 399–421. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.22093
- Zhu, C., Zhang, F., Ling, C.-D., & Xu, Y. (2023). Supervisor feedback, relational energy,

and employee voice: The moderating role of leader–member exchange quality.

The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 34(17), 3308–3335.

<a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2022.2119093">https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2022.2119093</a>

Zyphur, M., & Pierides, D. (2020). Statistics and probability have always been value laden: An historical ontology of quantitative research methods. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 167(1), 1–18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04187-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04187-8</a>

## Appendix: Interview Protocol

**Preparing for interviews.** Upon receiving approval from the Walden University IRB, I contacted potential participants through social media using an approved introduction letter. Once a participant agreed to the interview, I requested the individual provide me with a date, time, and location convenient for the participant to be interviewed.

**Informed consent.** Prior to starting each interview, I required the participant to sign a prepared consent form. I remind the participant that the interview would be audio recorded. I started the recording device and recorded the time, date, and participant's name and numeric code to open the interview.

**Opening interviews**. I started each interview by greeting the participant, introducing myself, and explaining the purpose and benefits of the study. I then thanked the participant for agreeing to the interview process and ensured the participant was comfortable before asking if the participant was ready to proceed with the interview.

**Conducting interviews**. I conducted semistructured interviews using the following 10 open-ended questions:

- 1. How do you track employee turnover?
- 2. How do you measure your employees' levels of engagement?
- 3. How do you manage absenteeism or other withdrawal behaviors?
- 4. What strategies have you used to reduce employee turnover?
- 5. How have you implemented employee retention strategies?
- 6. How do you measure the effectiveness of your strategies to reduce turnover?
- 7. Which strategies were most effective to reduce employee turnover?
- 8. What key challenges did you experience, if any, when implementing successful strategies to reduce employee turnover?
- 9. How did you address or resolve any challenges of implementing successful strategies to reduce employee turnover?

10. What additional information would you like to provide about organizational strategies to reduce employee turnover?

I allowed sufficient time for the participant to thoroughly respond to each question. If necessary, I asked follow-up probing questions.

**Recording reflective notes.** During the interview, I took notes to document observations, thoughts, or potential follow up probing questions that emerged.

**Member checking.** I asked the participant about the major themes the participant discussed during the interview to ensure I correctly interpreted the participant's response. Furthermore, I allowed the participant to validate the interview transcript later.

Closing interviews. At the end of the interview, I thanked the participant for their time and information and reminded the participant that I would contact the participant later to validate the accuracy of the transcript and to obtain additional information the participant might offer. I concluded the interview by reminding the participant that the contents of the interview would remain confidential and that neither the participant's name nor the name of their organization would be revealed in the published study.

.